
TOWN OF BOLTON 
DIVERSITY COMMISSION 

November 10, 2021 - MINUTES 
 

The Diversity Commission held its first meeting on November 10, 2021 with First Selectman 
Sandra Pierog presiding.  Also, in attendance were: Interim Administrative Office James Rupert, 
Amanda Gordon, Cheryl Udin, Kawan Gordon, Jennifer Cyr, John Toomey, Rhea Klein and Paula 
Meyers. 

 
1. Call To Order 

S. Pierog called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
 

2. Introductions 
Introductions were made by the entire group. 
 

3. Review Charge of the Committee. 
S. Pierog stated this committee was formed by action of the Board of Selectmen.  In the 
resolution the BOS said it recognizes that the Town can do more to address issues of 
diversity and inclusion.  We also recognize the Town may not be fully aware of all the 
issues and may require the help and input from residents.  This is a temporary ad-hoc 
committee that can consist of up to 15 members appointed by the commission for a 1- 
year term following the first meeting of the commission.  This committee can create its 
own agenda to address issues pertaining to Town government, community, diversity 
and inclusion, with the caveat that you’re an advisory board to the Board of Selectmen. 
 
Of the 15 members we currently have 11 members appointed.  One has since resigned, 
as she has moved from town. This includes (8 democrats and 2 unaffiliated). There are 
five (5) remaining positions; of which two (2) might be democrats, and the remainder 
must be unaffiliated or republican.  The BOS must appoint any additional members that 
wish to participate on the commission. 
 

4. Election of Officers. 
P. Meyers volunteered to take minutes at all the subsequent meetings. 
K. Gordon volunteered to be Vice Chair of the committee. 
A. Gordon volunteered to be Chair. (S. Pierog agreed to mentor). 
 
Motion: I move we appoint Amanda Gordon as Chair and Kawan Gordon as Vice Chair of 
the Diversity Commission.  
 

 By:  P. Meyers  Seconded: J. Cyr 

 Voting:   
 For: Unanimous – all seven (7) members voted yes. 

1



 Against: None 
 Abstain: None 
 

5. Discussion of Next Steps. 
K. Gordon – I think we should try to identify opportunities in town to promote positivity; 
bring people back together; focus on something neutral and not political. Try to repair 
some of the negativity from the recent municipal election. A good start is the new FB 
group in Bolton that promotes positivity.  There has been quite a bit of negativity in our 
town over the last month and half on social media. Promoting better positive relations 
throughout the community. 
 
P. Meyers –Trying to figure out what our measurable goal would be to show people in 
town; and I don’t know what that would be. 
 
R. Klein – Maybe we should look at hosting some events.  Need to get a better 
understanding of our town’s demographics. 
 
J. Cyr?? – Other countries have what’s called a”Human Library” –  where you rent an 
actual person to tell their history and story so people can better understand someone 
else’s culture. 
 
A. Gordon – possible agenda items for our next meeting: 
 

 Group norms and values – how we treat others and expect to be treated. 

 Fundraiser for lawn signs that promotes diversity and inclusion. 

 Identify and prioritize tasks we want to accomplish in the next year. 
 

J. Toomey – we may want to review the BOS charge for this commission. To see if the 
BOS has any clear points of what may be expected of this commission.   Will check 
w/Wethersfield Human Rights and Relations Commission to see what their agendas 
have on them. 

 
R. Klein – happy to apply for any grants that might be used for us. Think we should come 
up with an action plan in our next meeting with timelines.  

 
K. Gordon – when coming up with goals go for the larger idea/ biggest win– we can 
always condense it if needed. 
 
S.Pierog stated there is no budget for this committee.  300th Anniversary money is 
available for Town anniversary celebrations/events only. 
 
 
 
 

2



6. Set Meeting Dates for Next Calendar Year.
Two types of meetings:

 Regular Meeting
o “Other” category on agenda – which means anything anyone wants to

discuss can be discussed at that time; or anyone can add something to
the agenda by consensus.

 Special Meeting
o Can only discuss those things specifically on the agenda. You cannot add

things and you cannot have an “other” category.

 Additional Info:
o All meeting dates must be in to the Town Clerk at least 30 day prior to

the meeting.
o Agendas must be sent to the Town Clerk and Kathy McCavanagh and at

least 24 hours in advance of any meeting.

 Meeting date lists for 2022 should be chosen and emailed to the Town Clerk and
Kathy McCavanagh.

 You can have a public meeting at a private residence but you cannot exclude
anyone from attending, including the public.

A.Gordon will send out doodle pole to get a consensus on what day/time might work
for everyone and then try to set monthly meeting dates for everyone to review at
next meeting.  She will also send out the charge for this commission for everyone to
review.   * Please include Jim Rupert and Kathy McCavanagh on all your emails
moving forward.

7. Other
None.

8. Adjournment.
A.Gordon adjourned the meeting at 7:38 p.m.

Respectfully Submitted, 

Kathy McCavanagh 

Please see minutes of subsequent meetings for corrections to these minutes and any corrections 
hereto. 

3



Resolution or the Creation of an 
Ad Hoc Commission  

On Diversity & Inclusion  
Unanimously Adopted January 5, 2021 

*********** 

Whereas a number of residents of the Town of Bolton have called for the creation of a 
commission  to address issues of diversity and inclusion; and  

Whereas national events in 2020 brought issues of systemic racism and bigotry to the forefront               
of the minds of all and was the cause of a demonstration in support of diversity and inclusion                  
being  held in Bolton; and  

Whereas the Board of Selectmen recognizes that the Town can do more to address issues of 
diversity and inclusion in town; and  

Whereas the Town recognizes that it may not fully aware of all issues of diversity and inclusion                 
that may arise within Bolton in any given year and may require resident help in input in order                  
to be able  to address issues as they arise; and  

Whereas the Board of Selectmen’s Subcommittee on Finance & Administration recommended at            
their meeting on December 21, 2020, that an ad hoc Commission on Diversity & Inclusion be                
created in order to better address issues of diversity and inclusion that may arise within the                
town  government and the community-at-large; therefore it be  

Resolved that the Bolton Board of Selectmen; under the authority of Section 5.1, subsection C.2               
of the Town Charter; creates a temporary (“ad hoc”) Commission on Diversity & Inclusion,              
which shall consist of up to 15 members as are appointed to it by the Board, who shall be                   
empaneled for a term of one year following the first meeting of the Commission, and which                
shall be empowered to create its own agenda as it seeks to address issues pertaining to town                 
government and community diversity and inclusion with the caveat that it shall be an advisory               
body reporting to the Board of Selectmen. 

4



Smarter Balanced Assessments
Met or exceeded expectations, 2018/19

Math ELA

Bolton School District

Statewide

65%

48%

74%

56%

School Districts Available
Grades

Total
Enrollment

Pre-K
Enrollment

Bolton School District

Statewide

PK-12

-

753

513,079

6

15,300

4-Year Grad
Rate (2018-19)

91%

88%

CT Department of Education, 2020-21
Schools

Total Active Businesses

New Business Registrations by Year

484

31

27

28

25

24

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

42

31

25

34

40

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

26

17

22

23

27

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

28

32

32

37

28

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

Secretary of the State, June 2021
SOTS Business Registrations

Simoniz Usa Inc

Munson's Candy Kitchen

Fish Family Farm Creamery & Dairy

Country Carpenters

Bolton Veterinary Hospital

1

2

3

4

5

Data from municipalities, 2021
Key Employers

1

2

3

4

5

Manufacturing

Local Government

Profess., Sci., & Tech Services

Construction

Retail Trade

All Industries

433

221

169

90

89

1,309

8

7

14

19

14

131

CT Department of Labor, 2019

$49,150

$53,706

$61,089

$65,674

$34,840

$49,942

Av. WagesEmployersEmployment
Top Industries

Economy

19%17

25%22

9%8

27%27High School Diploma Only
Associate Degree
Bachelor’s Degree
Master’s Degree or Higher

Bolton StateEducational Attainment

2 12%

90%78English
Spanish

Bolton StateLanguage Spoken at Home

Race and Ethnicity

NH, incl. American Indian, Alaska Native,
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander

Non-Hispanic (NH)

NH

Of any race

NH

Asian
Black
Hispanic or Latino/a
White
Other

4%
10%
16%
67%
3%1%

89%

8%

1%

2%

State

State

4%

10%

14%

15%

16%

8%

10%

16%

7%Under 10
10 to 19
20 to 29
30 to 39
40 to 49
50 to 59
60 to 69
70 to 79
80 and over

337
767
512
392
785
736
681
498
203

Age Distribution
11%
13%
13%
12%
13%
15%
12%
7%
5%

ACS, 2015–2019

Demographics

Land Area
Population Density
Number of Households
Median Age
Median Household Income
Poverty Rate

mi

people per mi

²
²

4,842
738
1,370,746
41.0
$78,444
10%

14
341
1,821
46.3
$105,772
5%

Bolton State
General
ACS, 2015–2019

Bolton, Connecticut
2021 Town Profile 1 / 2 Current Population

4,911

7 10%

94%64

91%66Owner-Occupied
Detached or Semi-Detached
Vacant

Bolton State

Median Home Value
Median Rent
Housing Units

$275,900
$959
1,952

$275,400
$1,180
1,516,629

Housing
ACS, 2015–2019 Bolton State

5



Bolton, Connecticut
2021 Town Profile 2 / 2 Current Population

4,911

The Connecticut Town Profiles are two-page reports of demographic and economic
information for each of Connecticut's 169 municipalities. Reports for 2016-2019 are
available from .

Feedback is welcome, and should be directed to

These Profiles can be used free of charge by external organizations, as long as
and are cited. No representation or warranties,

expressed or implied, are given regarding the accuracy of this information.
AdvanceCT CTData Collaborative

profiles.ctdata.org

.info@ctdata.org

About Town Profiles

AdvanceCT’s
.

Search , Connecticut’s most
comprehensive online database of available commercial properties

SiteFinder

ctdata.org/sitefinder

11%10

5 8%

Bolton State

Employed
Unemployed

Unemployment Rate
Self-Employment Rate*

2,948
159

1,724,621
148,010

Labor Force
CT Department of Labor, 2020

*ACS, 2015–2019

Aa3
$11,186,227
$2,288
89%
49%

$1,085,825
5%

Moody’s Rating
Total Indebtness

Annual Debt Service

per capita
per capita, as % of state av.
as percent of expenditures

as % of expenditures

Municipal Debt

$628,759,699
$128,581
84%
5%

39.47
27.28

Equalized Net Grand List

Comm./Indust. Share of Net Grand List

Actual Mill Rate
Equalized Mill Rate

per capita
per capita, as % of state av.

Grand List

$22,674,603
$16,517,368
$6,157,235

Total Expenditure
Educational
Other

Municipal Expenditure

$23,637,320
$17,304,877
$3,508
116%
$5,567,930
104%

Total Revenue
Property Tax Revenue

Intergovernmental Revenue
Revenue to Expenditure Ratio

per capita
per capita, as % of state av.

Municipal Revenue

CT Office of Policy and Management, SFY 2017-18
Fiscal Indicators

Catchment Areas of 15mi, 30mi, and 60mi

Springfield

Danbury

Poughkeepsie

Hartford

Bridgeport

New Haven

Waterbury

Stamford

New York

New London

Yonkers

Providence

Newport

Boston

NY

MA

RI

CT Service
Other Public Bus Operations
Train Service

transit Express
-
-

Public Transit

94%86

4 5%

1 3%

0 5%Public Transport
Walking or Cycling
Driving
Working From Home Pre-Covid

Commute Mode

4 12%

5 9%

Mean Commute Time
No Access to a Car
No Internet Access

Pre-Covid 24 min 26 min

Bolton StateAccess
ACS, 2015–2019

6



How Diverse is Connecticut? 

Diversity can often be difficult to quantify, especially when discussing race and 

ethnicity. The Census Bureau provides accurate and recent demographic data through 

the American Community Survey and Decennial Census, but how can we use this data 

to measure diversity in Connecticut towns? 

OVERVIEW 

The Census Bureau defines the Diversity Index of a geographic region as “the chance 

that two people chosen at random will be from different racial and ethnic groups.” For 

example, if the Diversity Index of a region is 60%, two people chosen randomly from 

this region will have a 60% chance of identifying as a different race/ethnicity from 

each other (and thus a 40% chance of identifying as the same race/ethnicity). 

Therefore, a higher Diversity Index indicates a more diverse population. 

The release of 2020 Census redistricting data provides the most recent population 

counts. Using the methodology created by the Census Bureau, CTData calculated a 

Diversity Index for each town in Connecticut. See Methodology section below to read 

about the full methodology behind the Diversity Index and how it is calculated. 

DIVERSITY IN CONNECTICUT VS OTHER 

STATES 

The Diversity Index in the United States is 61% in 2020. States with the highest 

Diversity Index are Hawaii (76%), California (70%), and Nevada (69%), while those 

with the lowest are Maine (19%), West Virginia (20%), and Vermont (20%). 

Connecticut ranks 22 out of 51, with a Diversity Index of 56%. While this is lower 

than the national average, Connecticut has the highest Diversity Index of all the states 

in New England and has experienced an increase of nearly 10% (from 46%) since 

2010. 

CONNECTICUT DIVERSITY IN 2020 

The overall Diversity Index of Connecticut is 56%, but there is a wide range when 

looking at town-level data. There are 22 towns that have a higher Diversity Index than 

the state average, many of which are towns with larger populations, and 147 towns 

that have a lower Diversity Index. Towns with the highest Diversity Index are New 

Haven (73%), East Hartford (72%), and Waterbury (69%), while those with the 

7

https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/decennial-census.html
https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2021/08/2020-united-states-population-more-racially-ethnically-diverse-than-2010.html


lowest are Lyme (13%), Morris (14%), and Barkhamsted (14%). These findings are 

consistent with 2010 Census data (though rankings are not exactly the same). 

Explore changes across Connecticut: Connecticut Population and Demographics 

Changes between 2010 and 2020 

The Diversity Index of Connecticut increased from 46% to 56% from 2010 to 2020. 

While there are many towns in Connecticut with a low Diversity Index in 2020, all 

but two towns experienced an increase in diversity compared to 2010. The largest 

absolute increases (difference in percentages) were in South Windsor (19%), Bethel 

(19%), and Brookfield (18%), while slight decreases were observed in Somers (-3%) 

and Bridgeport (-1%). Although Bridgeport’s Diversity Index decreased by 1%, it 

remains one of the most diverse towns in Connecticut in both 2010 and 2020. 

The table below summarizes the Diversity Index of each town in Connecticut in 2010 

and 2020, as well with the absolute percent change. Search for your town in the search 

bar below. 

(Bolton and surrounding towns copied from chart) 

METHODOLOGY 

The race and ethnicity breakdown in the 2020 Census contains population counts for 

eight different race/ethnicity groups: 

 Hispanic or Latino (H)

 White alone, not Hispanic or Latino (W)

 Black or African American alone, not Hispanic or Latino (B)

 American Indian and Alaska Native alone, not Hispanic or Latino (AIAN)

 Asian alone, not Hispanic or Latino (Asian)

 Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander alone, not Hispanic or Latino (NHPI)

 Some Other Race alone, not Hispanic or Latino (SOR)

 Two or More Races, not Hispanic or Latino (MULTI)

Converting the population counts into the proportion of the overall population and 

assuming that the geographic region has a population of more than eight people, the 

Diversity Index can be calculated by: 

8

https://www.ctdata.org/census-2020-explorer-page
https://www.ctdata.org/census-2020-explorer-page


DI = 1 - (H2 + W2 + B2 + AIAN2 + Asian2 + NHPI2 + SOR2 + MULTI2), where DI ∈ 

[0, 0.875]. 

The Diversity Index is equal to the minimum of 0 when an entire population is 

comprised of only one of the eight groups above (for example, everyone in a town 

identifies as NHPI) and equal to 0.875 when there is a perfectly equal representation 

of each of the eight groups above (exactly 1/8 of the population identifies as each 

individual group). 

FOR MORE INFORMATION 

Visit our 2020 Census Hub for more information about the 2020 Census and to keep 

up-to-date with data releases and analyses. Be sure to check back as we plan to update 

the hub often with new data and analyses. 

If you are interested to learn more about CTData, check out what we do and the 

services we provide. For training and tips on how to use data to inform your personal 

and professional life, register for one of our CTData Academy workshops or browse 

our blog. You can keep up with us by subscribing to the CTData newsletter and 

following us on Twitter, Facebook, and LinkedIn. 

As copied from: https://www.ctdata.org/blog/diversity-in-connecticut-is-increasing 

9

https://www.ctdata.org/census-2020-data-hub
https://www.ctdata.org/what-we-do-1
https://www.ctdata.org/what-we-do-1
https://www.ctdata.org/what-we-do-1
https://www.ctdata.org/academy
https://www.ctdata.org/blog/
https://www.ctdata.org/newsletter-signups
https://twitter.com/CTOpenData
https://www.facebook.com/ctopendata/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/connecticut-data-collaborative/
https://www.ctdata.org/blog/diversity-in-connecticut-is-increasing


1

ESSENTIAL EQUITY: 
Women, Covid-19 and Rebuilding CT

10



ABOUT THIS REPORT
Covid-19 has revealed the inequities and 
injustice that perpetuate the systems in our 
state and in our larger society. As advocates 
for women and girls, we knew that systems 
of sexism and racism already disadvantaged 
women and girls and we braced ourselves 
for how the economic and health crisis 
would further harm them. This report 
documents the disproportionate impact 
of Covid-19 on women and girls, and 
particularly on women and girls of color. 
We intend this vital information to inform decisions in the future that can direct resources to women and girls. 
We urge policymakers, government officials, philanthropists, nonprofit service providers, corporations and our 
fellow community members to use this information to create equity through relief and recovery efforts.

A COLLABORATIVE EFFORT 
This report is a collaboration between funders and member organizations of the Connecticut Collective for 
Women and Girls (CCWG) and the Connecticut Data Collaborative (CTData). The Connecticut Collective for 
Women and Girls is a collaborative of organizations committed to the advancement of women and girls, 
including those who are cisgender, transgender, and non-binary, in the state of Connecticut. This report was 
made possible by generous funding from the: Aurora Women and Girls Foundation

Community Fund for Women and Girls of the 
Community Foundation for Greater New Haven

Fund for Women & Girls of Fairfield County’s 
Community Foundation

Northwest CT Community Foundation in honor of  
its Women & Girls Fund 

Women and Girls Funds of the Community 
Foundation of Eastern Connecticut 

CTData’s work finding and analyzing data on race 
and gender was led by Executive Director Michelle 
Riordan-Nold and staff members Elizabeth Grim and 
Jason Cheung, who met the challenges of limited 
data sources and tight timeframes with outstanding 
results.

Community partners contributing to this effort 
include the: Connecticut Women’s Education and 
Legal Fund (CWEALF), Sari A. Rosenbaum Fund 
for Women and Girls of the Middlesex County 
Community Foundation (MCCF), Women and Girls 
Fund of the Mainstreet Community Foundation, 
Village for Children and Families, Health Equity 
Solutions, End Hunger Connecticut, Connecticut Coalition Against Domestic Violence, Connecticut Fair 
Housing Center, and Connecticut Early Childhood Alliance. 

Thank you to our data partners for providing information for this report: United Way 211, Connecticut 
Fair Housing Center, Connecticut Department of Labor, Connecticut Department of Children and Families, 

The Women and Girls Data 
Platform is a cutting-edge online 
tool to share information and 
equip nonprofits, municipal and 
state policymakers, corporations 
and community members with 
data for the advancement 
of women and girls. Visit 
womenandgirls.ctdata.org to 
learn more. 

11

http://womenandgirls.ctdata.org


3

Connecticut Office of Early Childhood, Connecticut Department of Public Health, Connecticut Department 
of Social Services, Connecticut Coalition Against Domestic Violence, and Women’s Business Development 
Council.

Special thanks to the Report Advisory Group who determined the focus areas, responded to drafts, 
connected with Community Partners for expert input, coordinated the roll out of the report to policymakers 
and the public: 

Chair Jenny Steadman (Aurora Women and Girls Foundation) 

Sharon Cappetta (Community Fund for Women and Girls of the Community Foundation for Greater New 
Haven)

Tricia Hyacinth (Fund for Women & Girls of Fairfield County’s Community Foundation)

Julia Scharnberg (Northwest CT Community Foundation liaison to its Women & Girls Fund)

Thayer Talbott (Sari A. Rosenbaum Fund for Women and Girls of Community Foundation of Middlesex County)

Lauren Parda (Women and Girls Funds of the Community Foundation of Eastern Connecticut)

Karla Fortunato (Connecticut Council for Philanthropy)

Kara Straun (Community Fund for Women and Girls of the Community Foundation for Greater New Haven) 

Michelle Riordan-Nold (Connecticut Data Collaborative)

Maddie Granato (Connecticut Women’s Education and Legal Fund)

SOURCES AND TIME FRAME FOR THE REPORT
Analyses include publicly available administrative and survey data at the state level, disaggregated by sex, 
race, and ethnicity when available (see Resources). In addition, the Household Public Survey, a product of the 
U.S. Census Bureau in collaboration with five federal agencies, provided data on the social and economic 
impacts of Covid-19 (See Appendix B for more details). Unless otherwise stated, data covers the time periods 
of January 1 to September 30 for 2019 and 2020.

TERMINOLOGY
Throughout this report, we used the language for sex and gender in the way that it was collected by the 
data source. For example, if the survey or administrative database used the language of female and male, 
we reported the terms as such rather than saying “women” and “men.” Too often, these data collection tools 
conflated the constructs of sex and gender and limited response options to a binary.

12



4

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Key Findings. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                                                     5

Coronavirus: Exposing the Inequity in our Health Systems. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                              7

Women as Essential Workers and Caregivers. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                         9

Child Care Crisis Threatens Economic Recovery . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                      13

Eviction Crisis Threatens Women and Families. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                        16

Mental Health Needs Increase for Women of Color. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18

Home Unsafe for Women and Children. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                              20

Hunger Hurts Women and Families . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                                 22

Opportunities for Measuring Impact . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                                25

References. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                                                       27

Appendix A: Demographics. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                                        32

Appendix B: Child Care . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                                           33

Appendix C: Labor Force Participation. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35

Appendix D: Income & Employment. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                                36

Appendix E: Initial Unemployment Claims . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                           37

Appendix F: Continued Unemployment Claims. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                       39

Appendix G: 211 Calls for Services. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                                  41

Appendix H: Housing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                                             43

Appendix I: Projected Increase in Homelessness. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                      44

Appendix J: Mental Health. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                                         45

Appendix K: Food Insecurity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                                       47

13



5

KEY FINDINGS
Covid-19 has exacerbated existing inequities, 
highlighting policy and system failures to support 
Connecticut communities, especially women and 
women of color. These are not new challenges. Our 
systems have been built on centuries of systemic 
racism, resulting in communities of color continuing 
to be under resourced. With women being 
foundational to both families and the Connecticut 
economy, questions include how can we:

• Prioritize gender and racial equity in COVID-19 relief and recovery efforts?
• Develop a state infrastructure that supports a productive modern workforce that recognizes the valuable

contribution of women?
These are not rhetorical questions. Colleagues across the state and nation already know what works: investing 
in communities by investing in women. Data from the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) 
shows that providing additional income to families through unemployment benefits reduces the need for food 
assistance.1 Housing advocates know that preventing evictions and foreclosures also prevents homelessness, 
which in turn reduces costs to the state through decreased demand on social services.

UNEQUAL IMPACT ON WOMEN 
The current economic crisis has been termed the “shecession” because of its disparate impact on women.2 
Industries that have been impacted the most during the pandemic have been those with more female 
employees such as healthcare, education, food service, and retail. It is also impacting industries that are largely 
women-owned businesses such as child care. Female caregivers are faced with choosing between remaining 
in the workforce and caring for children as child care is less available and schools close or move to alternative 
learning models.

• Females have experienced more Covid-19 cases and deaths than males.3

• Nationally, four times more females are leaving the workforce than males.4

• Females have filed more unemployment claims and 75% of those claims were filed by females without
a college degree.5

• Nearly 1 in 3 families have not been able to find quality child care during the pandemic.6

• Housing insecurity has risen with increased evictions and mortgage delinquency.7,8

• Food insecurity is expected to increase by 28% as a result of the pandemic.9

• More females are reporting mental health concerns than males.10

• Exposure to traumatic experiences, such as domestic violence, has increased.11

• 76% of parents who had to stay home and not work due to child care are female.12

• The loss of income from women leaving the workforce just for one year could result in approximately
$150-500 million in lost wages, if 1-3.5% of working mothers drop out of Connecticut’s labor force.13

WOMEN OF COLOR EXPERIENCE GREATER IMPACT
• Overall, Black and Hispanic residents have had higher rates of Covid cases, deaths, and excess deaths

than white residents.14

• Females of color account for over 1 in 3 initial (36%) and continued (43%) unemployment claims filed by
females.15

• Only 6% of families of color can afford high-quality infant or toddler programs.16

14



6

• Homelessness is predicted to increase, which disproportionately impacts Black and Hispanic
households.

• More Hispanic females are reporting food insecurity, as compared to females of other races and
ethnicities.17

• Hispanic females have reported consistently higher rates of mental health concerns than females of
other demographics.18

OUR ECONOMY DEPENDS ON WOMEN
Since 2015, a primary driver of economic expansion has been women’s increased participation in the 
workforce.19 However, most of the focus has been on diversifying staff and board representation rather than 
bolstering systems that support women, particularly caregiving women, to enter the workforce and receive 
adequate wages for their work. The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted that women are the drivers of our 
shared economy.

• 48% of the female labor force are essential workers, such as healthcare, child care, and service industry
professionals.20

• 1 in 4 Connecticut businesses that applied for Federal PPP loans (and had gender identified on the
application) were women-owned businesses.21

• 92% of private child care centers are women-owned.22

AN EQUITABLE RECOVERY REQUIRES BOLD INVESTMENTS 
• Significant investments in caregiving—from increased child care spots, subsidies to make care affordable,

increased pay for child care and healthcare workers, to the ultimate goal of universal child care—are
necessary to support the full economic participation of a diverse, twenty-first century workforce.

• Significant investments in access to healthcare—from expanded HUSKY eligibility, continued funding
for telehealth, to the acknowledgement of racism as a public health crisis—are necessary to support the
health of all Connecticut residents.

• Significant investments in housing—from funding to assist with back rent, prevent evictions and
homelessness, and provide safe housing for domestic violence survivors—are necessary to provide basic
needs and the foundation for a sound economy.

• Significant investments in equitable pathways to high-wage, high-growth jobs and a commitment
to closing gender and racial wage gaps and preventing discrimination and harassment will create
economic security for women and their families.

76%

28%

48%

of parents who had to stay home and not work due to child 
care are female

of Connecticut’s Covid-19 cases were Hispanic individuals, 
but Hispanic individuals only make up 16% of the state’s 
population

of the female labor force are essential workers, such as  
healthcare, child care, and service industry professionals

15



7

Connecticut’s communities have been devastated by the coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic. As one of the 
states impacted early in the pandemic, Connecticut saw record-breaking cases, hospitalizations, and deaths 
in spring 2020 and a flattening of the curve during the summer months. During fall 2020, Covid-19 test 
rates started to rise again with a 1.9% positivity rate as of September 30, 2020 and a 6% positivity rate as of 
December 15, 2020.23

CORONAVIRUS:  
EXPOSING THE INEQUITY  
IN OUR HEALTH SYSTEMS

54%

15%

$41,920

of Covid-19 cases were females

of Covid-19 deaths were Black individuals, while Black 
individuals make up only 10% of the state’s population

 is the current income threshold for eligibility for the state’s 
Husky health insurance program for a family of four

COVID-19 CASES
57,742 Total Cases

Females
(18 cases per 1,000)

Males
(14 cases per 1,000)

54% 46%

COVID-19 DEATHS
4,511 Total Deaths

Females
(1.3 deaths per 1,000)

Males
(1.2 deaths per 1,000)

52% 48%

Females have experienced slightly more Covid-19 cases and deaths than males.23

16



8

Covid-19 has disproportionately impacted Black and Brown communities in Connecticut with higher rates 
of cases, deaths, excess deaths, and hospitalizations. Black individuals make up only 10% of the Connecticut 
population, yet accounted for 18% of cases and 15% of deaths. Hispanic individuals make up 16% of the 
Connecticut population and experienced a similarly disproportionate impact in cases (28%) but accounted for 
9% of deaths. 

Black and Latino residents are more likely to have had a close friend or family member who 
tested positive for Covid-19, was hospitalized, or died from Covid-19, than white residents.25  

Know someone 
who TESTED 

POSITIVE

Know someone 
who WAS 

HOSPITALIZED

Know someone 
who DIED

Black

Latino

White

42% 26% 20%

46% 23% 15%

30% 16% 12%

Excess deaths are deaths that occurred above and beyond what would be expected in an average year. 
Females who identified their race or ethnicity as Other, Black, and Hispanic were most impacted by the 
pandemic, reporting excess deaths of 131%, 79%, and 69%, respectively. While there is no certainty that 
excess deaths are directly or indirectly due to Covid-19, excess deaths are consistent with trends in the overall 
Covid-19 death data provided by the Connecticut Department of Public Health (CT DPH).

RECOMMENDATIONS 
In partnership with Health Equity Solutions and the Village for Children and Families

Immediate relief
• Restore the HUSKY A eligibility limit for parents to 201% of the federal poverty level.
• Extend and expand access to telehealth to create access to mental and physical health services for

women and girls. Telehealth must be reimbursed on par with in-person visits.

Long-term recovery
• Acknowledge, at all levels of government, that racism is a public health crisis.

DATA LIMITATIONS
• At this time, CT DPH does not provide Covid-19 data disaggregated at the intersection of sex/gender

and race/ethnicity or by sex/gender and age.
• Excess deaths data has a lag time in reporting given that Connecticut is one of the few states that

still operates with a paper rather than electronic death record system. They also do not provide data
disaggregated by age and gender together

17



9

The disparate impact on women could have profound economic implications both in the short and long term. 
Since 2015, a primary driver of economic expansion has been women joining the workforce. Unlike the 2008 
recession, the sectors of the economy affected the most during Covid-19 are those in which the workforce is 
predominantly female, such as hospitality, child care, retail, and healthcare. The current economic recession 
has been deemed a “shecession” because of this greater burden on women. See Appendix A for pre-Covid 
data on the social and economic status of women.

WOMEN AS ESSENTIAL 
WORKERS AND CAREGIVERS

75%

70%

49%

of initial and continuing unemployment claims were  
made by females without a college degree

of females who identify their race or ethnicity as Other 
experienced a loss of income since March

of Connecticut’s labor force is female.

Women make up 49% of Connecticut’s labor force with approximately 940,750 females in the labor force.26 
Certain industries are more female-dominated with females making up 78% of the healthcare workforce, 67% 
of the education workforce, and 56% of accommodation and food service industries. Together these industries 
account for almost half (48%) of the state’s female labor force.27 These three industries are also among those 
most heavily impacted during the Covid-19 pandemic, suggesting increased economic impact for women.

18



10

Women are increasingly experiencing social, economic, and 
familial burdens forcing them to choose between entering 
or remaining in the workforce versus caring for children 
and/or adult relatives at home. Women are more likely to 
assume caregiving responsibilities for children and other 
family members. Over 2 in 3 caregivers are female and, while 
every family is different, on average females may spend up 
to 50% more time caregiving than males.28, 29 Combine this 
with closing child care centers, schools shifting to remote and 
hybrid models, adult children moving home from college 
while campuses are closed, and some families opting to 
move older adults home from assisted living facilities, and we 
have a crisis.

Nationally, in April during the peak of the first Covid-19 
wave, mothers reduced their participation in the labor force 
by 2.7 to 4.3%, depending on the age of their child(ren).30 
Additionally, “Four times as many women as men dropped 
out of the labor force in September, roughly 865,000 women 
compared with 216,000 men.”31 While no causal evidence 
exists, this time frame coincides with the start of the school year and may be associated with challenges related 
to navigating the workplace with child care closures and remote or hybrid education models, contributing to 
women dropping out of the labor force.

Of Connecticut parents who reported having to stay home and not work due to child care in fall 2020, 
76% were female versus 24% male (see Appendix B).32 In Connecticut, 271,000 employed mothers (29%) 
have children under the age of 18.33 If even just 1-3% of these mothers leave the labor force, Connecticut 
could see a loss of between $150 and $500 million in annual wages for one year alone (see Appendix C for 
calculations).34 These numbers are likely low estimates of the economic impact to Connecticut since they do 
not account for lost income tax or a reduction in sales tax revenue due to lower consumption by households.

Furthermore, “women who exit the labor force to provide care often have difficulty reentering employment at 
a later date—an experience likely to be exacerbated in an economy with high unemployment rates. In addition, 
extended time out of work has significant negative effects on future earnings potential and can undermine 
future retirement security. Previous CAP research found that a 26-year-old working woman earning the median 
wage who took five years off to provide care would reduce her lifetime earnings by 19 percent. This includes 
not just lost wages over that time period but also lost wage growth and 
lost retirement assets.”35

NEARLY HALF OF CT WOMEN LOST INCOME36 
• 47% of Connecticut residents had a Covid-19 related loss

of income near the beginning of the pandemic, with that
percentage only decreasing slightly to 45% by the end of
September 2020 (see Appendix D). 

• More females of color have experienced loss of income than
white females. In particular, females who identified their race or
ethnicity as Black, Hispanic, or Other were more likely to report
having experienced a loss of income.

OF CONNECTICUT PARENTS WHO 
REPORTED HAVING TO STAY HOME 
AND NOT WORK DUE TO CHILD  
CARE IN FALL 2020, 76% WERE 
FEMALE VERSUS 24% MALE

Together these industries account 
for almost half (48%) of the state’s 

female labor force.

FEMALES MAKE UP:

78% of the healthcare 
workforce

67% of the education 
workforce

56% of the food service 
industy

19



11

WOMEN’S UNEMPLOYMENT CLAIMS REACH CRISIS LEVEL37, 38

• After 52% of initial unemployment claims and 56% of continuing unemployment claims have been filed
by females, indicating long term unemployment. (see Appendices E & F)

• 75% of initial and continuing unemployment claims were made by females without a college degree (of
those reporting their education level).

• More than 1 in 3 (36%) of initial claims filed by females
were by females of color: 18% Hispanic or Latino, 13%
Black or African American, 5% Asian or Other Pacific
Islander, and less than 1% identify as Native American.

• 43% of continued claims filed by females were by females
of color: 21% Hispanic or Latino, 17% Black
or African American, 4% Asian or Pacific Islander, less than
1% identify as Native American.

• Hispanic and Black females are overrepresented in
continued claims, as compared to race and ethnicity
distribution for the female population in the labor force
(13% Black or African American; 16% Hispanic).39

FAMILIES STRUGGLE WITH BASIC EXPENSES
• 34,112 income and employment-related calls were made

to Connecticut 211 in the first 9 months of 2020, marking a
27% increase from 2019 (see Appendix G). 

• Of the employment and income-related 211 calls with
available gender data, 69% were female and 31% were
male.40

• Slightly more females than males (14% vs 12%) reported
that paying for their usual expenses was very difficult.41

• Asian and white females have struggled the least, while
Black and Hispanic females have struggled the most—1 in 5
Black and Hispanic females said it was very difficult to meet their usual expenses.42

WOMEN-OWNED BUSINESSES AT RISK OF FAILURE
In addition to women workers being disproportionately impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic, so have 
Connecticut’s women-owned businesses. Industries which attract a majority female workforce are also more 
likely to have higher percentages of women-owned businesses. 

Across all industries, healthcare and social assistance (72%), educational services (66%), and retail trade (57%) 
have the highest percentages of women-owned businesses, according to the CT Secretary of State’s business 
registration data.43 These industries were also among those most impacted by the pandemic.

The Federal PPP loan program administered approximately 65,000 loans to businesses in Connecticut as of 
August 2020. Gender was identified on only 19% of the applications. Of those where gender was identified, 
approximately 1 in 4 (or about 2,800) were women-owned businesses. The top industries that received PPP 
loans for women-owned businesses included: beauty salons (5%; 144 businesses), full-service restaurants (5%; 
132 businesses), limited service restaurants (3%; 92 businesses), child day care services (3%; 90 businesses), 
and offices of real estate agents and brokers (3%; 87 businesses).44

OVER 50%
of initial unemployment 
claims have been filed  

by females

3 OUT OF 4
Females applying for 
initial and continuing 

unemployment did not 
have a college degree

OVER 1 IN 3
of initial claims filed 
by females were by 

females of color

20



12

RECOMMENDATIONS 
In partnership with Connecticut Women’s Education and Legal Fund (CWEALF)

Immediate relief
• Provide financial support for women and minority owned businesses.
• Ensure all Connecticut workers, regardless of employer size or occupation, have access to workplace

supports during the pandemic, including paid sick leave.
• Increase financial support to workers through unemployment insurance benefits and provide financial

support for workers who are ineligible for federal relief programs.

Long-term recovery
• Fully implement Connecticut’s landmark paid family and medical leave program.
• Continue increases in the state’s minimum wage to reach $15/hour by 2023 and consider increasing pay

for all essential workers immediately.
• Advance policies that aim to close gender and racial wage gaps for women and prohibit discrimination

that prevents women, specifically women of color, from advancing in the workforce. This includes
support for equitable pathways to high-wage, high-growth jobs and legislation that requires employers
to provide salary ranges for vacant positions and pay their employees equal pay for comparable
work; prohibits discrimination based on hair style, texture, or type (the CROWN Act); and strengthens
Connecticut’s stance against harassment in the workplace.

DATA LIMITATIONS
• Most income and employment data sources, with the exception of CT DOL data, limited gender to be

binary.
• Race and ethnicity categories did not fully encompass the diversity among Connecticut communities

with many of our people forced to choose the “Other” category, thereby literally othering these
individuals.

• CT SOTS only began asking about women and minority owned businesses in 2020.
• Only 19% of the applications for Federal PPP loans identified gender .

21



13

Access to affordable quality child care is essential for supporting Connecticut’s workforce. The Covid-19 
pandemic has threatened the collapse of the entire child care industry. Providers have faced impossible 
choices to remain open despite declining enrollment and changing public health guidelines. With caregivers 
trying to balance child care and work, families are struggling to find affordable quality child care now more 
than ever. 

THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC COULD 
RESULT IN THE LOSS OF ALMOST 
HALF (48%) OF CONNECTICUT’S 
CHILD CARE SUPPLY, ACCOUNTING 
FOR 46,349 LICENSED SLOTS.

CHILD CARE CRISIS THREATENS 
ECONOMIC RECOVERY

46,349

94%

child care slots are expected to be lost due to the pandemic

of families of color can’t afford high quality child care

 of private child care providers are women-owned businesses92%

Connecticut is home to 184,983 children under the age of 5 years, 
which is the age group most in need of child care services.45 According 
to the Center for American Progress, the Covid-19 pandemic could 
result in the loss of almost half (48%) of Connecticut’s child care supply, 
accounting for 46,349 licensed slots.46 The state is already well on 
its way to meet this benchmark with Connecticut’s child care centers 
currently operating at 30% less capacity than before Covid-19.47

In addition, prior to Covid-19, 44% of Connecticut residents lived in a 
child care desert. “A child care desert is any census tract with more than 
50 children under age 5 that contains either no child care providers or 

22



14

8 IN 10 FAMILIES CANNOT 
AFFORD THE FULL COST OF HIGH  
QUALITY INFANT AND TODDLER CARE. 
THIS DISPARITY IS EVEN HIGHER FOR 
FAMILIES OF COLOR WITH 94% NOT 
ABLE TO AFFORD HIGH QUALITY INFANT 
OR TODDLER PROGRAMS.

so few options that there are more than three times as 
many children as licensed child care slots.”48

At the same time that child care centers are closing, 
demand for child care is also changing. The Connecticut 
Office of Early Childhood (CT OEC) estimates that 
Connecticut needs at least twice as much child care 
now compared to pre-Covid due to remote and hybrid 
learning models that are keeping children at home with 
working caregivers.49 This raises concerns given that 
Connecticut already had a competitive child care market 
that was unable to meet the need. Prior to Covid-19 
there were about 2.30 children per available child care 
slot. This is estimated to nearly double to 4.41 children per child care slot after Covid-19.50

With increased demand for child care, families are struggling to find care for their children. According to a 
CT OEC parent survey, nearly half (45%) of families kept children home from child care due to Covid-related 
health concerns and about 1 in 3 (35%) were unable to find child care when needed.51 These findings are 
consistent with the 2020 Connecticut Wellbeing Survey, which found that 40% of adults living with children 
have “found it more difficult than usual to handle child care.” The impacts are disproportionately impacting 
women with 47% of all women respondents expressing this concern and 59% of women who are working full-
time, compared to 34% and 37% of men respectively.52

Access to child care is also marked by racial disparities, with 
child care deserts more likely to be in geographic areas with 
higher percentages of rural families, Black/African American and 
Hispanic/Latino families, and low-income families. In Connecticut, 
8 in 10 families cannot afford the full cost of high quality infant 
and toddler care. This disparity is even higher for families of 
color with 94% not able to afford high quality infant or toddler 
programs. Nationally, there is a $23,700 gap between the cost of 
high-quality infant care and current subsidy rates.53, 54

Approximately 75% of child care providers are private business 
owners—92% of which are women-owned—and 3 in 4 have 
closed during the pandemic.55, 56 With child care recognized as 
a historically feminized and undervalued profession, women 
continue to be compensated poorly for their work, perpetuating 
income inequality. Furthermore, despite their designation as essential workers, child care workers have 
consistently been underfunded and under-resourced in terms of subsidies and personal protective equipment 
(PPE) to keep them financially and physically healthy throughout the pandemic.57 Given the anticipated 
demand for child care increasing post-Covid, additional support and value of women’s critical contributions is 
imperative to bolster the sector overall.

2.3 children 
per available 
child care slot 

prior to 
Covid-19

4.41 children 
per available 
child care slot 
after Covid-19

23



15

RECOMMENDATIONS 
In partnership with Connecticut Early Childhood Alliance

Immediate relief
• Expand eligibility to Connecticut’s child care subsidy, Care 4 Kids, to parents who are enrolled in a job

training or education program, or who are unemployed and in search of a job.
• Ensure child care providers receive adequate financial support, personal protective equipment (PPE)

and cleaning supplies to remain operating during the pandemic.

Long-term recovery
• Initiate a system of universal early education and child care in Connecticut to ensure all families can

afford high quality care with well-paid providers and educators in the setting of their choice.

DATA LIMITATIONS
• Data is not currently available for why families are keeping their children at home such as whether the

child has pre-existing health conditions.
• We were unable to identify the number of families eligible for the Families First Coronavirus

Response Act.

24



16

The Covid-19 pandemic has exacerbated the already pervasive housing insecurity across Connecticut. Prior 
to Covid-19, nearly half of Connecticut renters spent more than 30% of their income on housing, which is 
considered cost-burdened. As of December 2020, the CT Department of Housing (CT DOH) has received over 
12,000 requests for the Temporary Rental Housing Assistance Program (TRHAP) during the pandemic.58

EVICTION CRISIS THREATENS 
WOMEN AND FAMILIES

1.2 
BILLION

20%

of females feel no or slight confidence in their ability to pay 
rent or mortgage next month

of Black females are estimated to be behind on their rent  
or mortgage

dollars could be the public cost to Connecticut for eviction-
related homelessness

19%

With families reporting increased housing instability 
and resources not available to meet the need, 
Connecticut is already seeing and will continue 
to see an increase in evictions, foreclosures, and 
homelessness:

• 19% of females feel no or slight confidence
in their ability to pay their rent or mortgage
next month. This increases to approximately
33% for females who reported their race or
ethnicity as Other and 32% for Black females,
compared to 15% for white females (see
Appendix H).59

DESPITE THE EVICTION MORATORIUM, SINCE THE 
START OF THE PANDEMIC, LANDLORDS HAVE FILED 
2,540 EVICTION CASES HAVE BEEN FILED BY
LANDLORDS AND 564 (BOLD, LARGER NUMBERS) 
EVICTION EXECUTIONS HAVE BEEN ISSUED BY THE 
COURTS ALLOWING REMOVAL OF A TENANT FROM 
THEIR UNIT DESPITE THE EVICTION MORATORIUM.

25



17

• 13% of females are estimated to be behind on their rent
or mortgage. This increases to 20% for Black females, 18%
for Hispanic females, and 17% for females who reported
their race or ethnicity as Other, compared to 10% for white
females.60

• Despite the eviction moratorium, since the start of the
pandemic, landlords have filed 2,540 new eviction cases in
courts and the courts have issued 564 executions, allowing
the removal of a tenant from their unit.61

• Between 66,273 to 133,000 households are at risk of
eviction in Connecticut, amounting to $628 million to
$1.2 billion dollars in public costs of eviction-related
homelessness.62

• Between $400 million and $1 billion is needed to prevent
an eviction crisis in Connecticut.63

• At 5.5%, Connecticut ranks in the top 10 states for serious
mortgage delinquency, or the number of mortgages that
are 90 days or more past due.64

• Nationally, homelessness is predicted to increase by 40 to 45% this year, resulting in 250,000 more
people experiencing homelessness across the United States. Using this logic, Connecticut could see an
increase in homelessness of 1,700 people (see Appendix I).65, 66

RECOMMENDATIONS 
In partnership with Connecticut Fair Housing Center

Immediate relief
• Increase support to renters that cancels rental arrearages, does not negatively impact credit, and

provides financial assistance for current and future housing stability.
• Invest in an increased allocation to temporary housing assistance for renters to spend on future rent to

continue through the pandemic and unemployment crisis.

Long-term recovery
• Increase availability of federally guaranteed housing choice vouchers to provide housing stability for

low-income families.

DATA LIMITATIONS
• Applications for the CT DOH TRHAP were not available disaggregated by race or gender since that

information is collected at time of payment not time of application.
• Mortgage delinquency and eviction data are not currently publicly available by race and ethnicity or sex

and gender.

• Given the interconnected systems impacting housing and homelessness, estimates for evictions,
mortgage delinquency, and homelessness range greatly. Estimates likely to change as policies and
eviction moratoriums change.

19% of females feel no or slight
confidence in their ability to pay their 

rent or mortgage next month. This 
increases to approximately 33% for

females who reported their race or 
ethnicity as Other and 32% for

Black females, compared 
to 15% for white females

26



18

Despite calls to Connecticut 211 for mental health services remaining stable compared to last year (57,505 in 
2019 vs. 52,743 in 2020), mental health concerns appear to be rising amidst the Covid-19 pandemic, especially 
for women of color.67

MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS  
INCREASE FOR WOMEN 
OF COLOR

Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, approximately 18% of Connecticut females have been told that they have 
some form of depression.68 Since the onset of the pandemic, approximately half of Connecticut residents have 
reported emotional distress. On average, a higher percentage of females than males have reported mental 
health concerns.69

75%

of females reported experiencing mental health concerns

of Hispanic females report experiencing mental health 
concerns

70%

parity in reimbursement for telehealth could expand access to 
mental health services$

27



19

Females Males

70%

60% 51%

52%

52% 48%

50%

59%Feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge

Unable to stop or control worrying

Little interest or pleasure in doing things

Felt down, depressed, or hopeless 

A higher percentage of females reported mental health concerns than males, with an average 
of 7 in 10 feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge for several days per week.

While findings vary across each mental health concern, the general trend is that females of color are more 
likely to report mental health challenges than white females (see Appendix J):70

• Hispanic females were more likely to report experiencing mental health concerns over time with nearly
3 in 4 reporting feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge.

• Females who identified their race or ethnicity as Other reported the largest increase in feeling nervous,
anxious, or on edge over the course of the pandemic (57% in Spring to 77% in Fall 2020).

• Black and white females have reported increases in worrying over time.
• Females who reported their race or ethnicity as Black or Other reported increased rates of feeling down,

depressed, or hopeless as well as having little interest or pleasure in doing things over the course of the
pandemic.

RECOMMENDATIONS 
In partnership with Village for Children and Families

Immediate relief
• Extend and expand access to telehealth to create access to mental and physical health services for

women and girls. Telehealth must be reimbursed on par with in-person visits.

Long term recovery
• Solidify equity-focused telehealth by ensuring long-term extensions of telehealth address the digital

divide and meet the needs of people of color

DATA LIMITATIONS
• Mental health questions included on the Census Household Pulse Survey were not consistent with those

asked on comparison surveys such as the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Survey, which does not
allow for a true change over time analysis.

• At the time of writing this report, we did not find publicly available state-level data on suicide or opioid
use since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic.

• Although available in the Household Pulse Survey, this report did not focus on disaggregating mental
health by age. Media reports suggest that older adults who are more isolated at home or staying in
assisted living facilities may be experiencing adverse mental health impacts of Covid-19.

28



20

In additional to mental health concerns, the Covid-19 pandemic has raised a number of safety concerns 
resulting from social distancing and deviation from normal routines.

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
Demands for domestic violence shelter services have also increased due a surge in incidents. During the peak 
of the pandemic, contacts to CT Safe Connect—Connecticut’s domestic violence resource hub—increased by 
over 30%.72 This increase only represents incidents that have officially been reported. We do not have a way to 
quantify the likely increase in incidents that have remained unreported. Further, due to social distancing and 
public health safety requirements, survivors have been placed in hotels resulting in a 43% increase of spending 
between March and August by CT Coalition Against Domestic Violence (CCADV) member organizations.73

Through October 2020, 886 Connecticut residents have been served in emergency shelter (474 adults and 
412 children). An additional 206 people have been placed in hotels or motels (119 adults, 87 children).74

HOME UNSAFE FOR  
WOMEN AND CHILDREN

30%

125%

43%

 increase in calls to Safe Connect domestic violence hotline

 increase in time spent on calls by domestic violence 
advocates because of the complex nature of issues during 
Covid-19

 increase in costs for housing domestic violence survivors  
in hotels due to inadequate socially distanced space in 
existing shelters

29



21

ADVERSE CHILDHOOD EXPERIENCES
With fewer children attending in-person child care and education or going to the pediatrician, there are 
reduced opportunities for mandatory reporters to flag instances of abuse and neglect. As such, the Covid-19 
pandemic is also impacting providers’ abilities to identify adverse childhood experiences, including placing 
children and families into care. The CT Department of Children and Families (CT DCF) has seen a 40% 
decrease in entries into DCF care and custody and a 38% decrease in exits from DCF care and custody care 
since 2019. Exits have been stalled due to courts drastically limiting services, which included processing 
reunification and adoptions due to Covid-19.71

MARCH–NOVEMBER 2018 2019 2020 CHANGE SINCE 2018 CHANGE SINCE 2019

ENTRIES 1,816 1,589 946 -48% -40%

EXITS 1,862 1,787 1,110 -40% -38%

Additionally, to provide survivors with the help they need:
• Outgoing calls increased by 71% from the previous year (April-October) because of the proactive

outreach by advocates to ensure that existing clients had what they need to stay safe.
• Length of hours spent on calls increased 124% from the previous year (April-October) because

advocates needed more time to support the complex needs of clients during Covid-19.
• Advocates made a rapid and successful switch to remote advocacy at the onset of the pandemic.

Services provided and overall contacts increased by 11% from the previous year (April-October).
• There has been a steady increase in victim advocacy services at 13%. This type of service includes

advocacy related to financial intervention, child care, transportation, intervention with an employer/
creditor, etc.).75

RECOMMENDATIONS 
In partnership with Connecticut Coalition Against Domestic Violence and the Village for Children and Families

Immediate relief
• Continue Covid-era policy that restraining orders do not require verification by Notary Public to address

strain on survivors and advocates working in Covid conditions by eliminating additional administrative
and cost barrier to protection.

• Provide funding for housing domestic violence victims in hotels to provide adequate social distancing.

Long-term recovery
• Increase funding to support domestic violence, sexual assault and human trafficking programming and

shelters.
• Make permanent the change to not requiring verification by Notary Public on restraining orders.

DATA LIMITATIONS
• CT DCF entry and exit data was not publicly available by sex or gender of the child.
• While quantitative data provides insight into the scope of a problem, the social and emotional impacts

of exposure to trauma are lasting and pervasive. It would be helpful to collect qualitative data as well as
longitudinal data on the impact of Covid-19 on exposure to trauma.

30



22

Prior to Covid-19, Connecticut ranked 25th in the nation for food insecurity with 12% (426,620) of residents 
struggling to have enough healthy food for their family. With unemployment rates and the cost of food 
increasing during the Covid-19 pandemic, Feeding America predicts overall food insecurity to increase by 
28% and child food insecurity to increase by 40%. This means that an additional 118,100 people (15%) in 
Connecticut could struggle to have enough healthy food in 2020. 

HUNGER HURTS WOMEN 
AND FAMILIES

4X

43%

 as many calls to 211 concerned help with buying food

of calls to 211 that concerned help with buying food were 
made by females

of Hispanic females reported they sometimes or often did not 
have enough food in their household in the last 7 days

70%

Approximately 1 in 5 children in Connecticut are predicted to experience food insecurity in 2020. This means 
that 22% or 164,230 children may not have enough healthy foods to eat, which is over 46,000 more children 
than in 2018. Child food insecurity is especially concerning given the nutrition required to help their brains and 
bodies develop from a young age.76

Females of color are more likely to report experiencing food insecurity than their white and male peers. 
For example, in fall 2020 nearly 1 in 5 Hispanic females reported that they sometimes or often did not have 
enough food in their household during the last 7 days (see Appendix K).77

31



23

Nearly 1 in 5 Hispanic females reported 
sometimes or often not having enough food 
in the last 7 days.
Local data from CT Department of Social Services 
(CT DSS) and Connecticut 211 suggest that 
Connecticut households are already seeing the 
impacts of Covid-19 on their ability to feed their 
families. Overall, Connecticut 211 recorded 
quadrupled for calls with help for buying food 
between 2019 and 2020. The majority (70%) of 
callers for food assistance who provided their sex 
were females.78 Applications for SNAP have also 
seen a steep climb of 300% since the start of the pandemic.79

Applications for public assistance spiked during the height of the pandemic, with 4,694 SNAP 
applications during the week of April 4, 2020.

5,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

0

4,694

1,614

3,153

SNAP

3/1/2020 4/1/2020 5/1/2020 6/1/2020 7/1/2020 8/1/2020 9/1/2020

Non-MAGI medical
Cash assistance

Hispanic

White
Asian

Black
Other

All Females
All Males

18%
14%

13%
10%

8%
8%

5%

HISPANIC & BLACK FEMALES 
REPORT HIGHEST RATES OF HUNGER

SNAP APPLICATIONS 
HAVE INCREASED 300% 
SINCE THE START OF  
THE PANDEMIC.

As seen in the graph above, the decrease in SNAP applications during 
the summer months was due to the Federal Pandemic Unemployment 
Compensation program (FPUC), which provided an additional $600 
per week of Federal Pandemic Unemployment Compensation benefits 
to eligible families. When this benefit expired at the end of July 2020, 
applications for food assistance increased.

RECOMMENDATIONS 
In partnership with End Hunger Connecticut

Immediate relief
•	 Rescind federally proposed SNAP regulations that seek to restrict eligibility and disproportionately harm 

communities of color, including the “public charge” rule that could cause up to 200,000 Connecticut 
residents to avoid applying for or keeping SNAP and other critical benefits. 

•	 Increase and maximize SNAP benefits to ensure more families have access to the program, specifically 
during the pandemic. This includes eliminating punitive “work for food” SNAP rules: the three month 
time limit for childless adults ages 18-50, employment and training-driven sanctions on individuals and 
families, and work-based eligibility requirements for low-income college students. 

•	 Exclude pandemic-related relief, including pandemic unemployment insurance benefits, from countable 
income for federally-funded programs like SNAP.

32



24

• Improve and expand school nutrition programs to ensure no student is hungry, including universal free
school meals for all K-12 school-aged children and extension of the National School Lunch Program to
low-income community college students.

Long-term recovery
• Center the voices and experiences of SNAP households and people with low incomes in all changes to

the program, transition planning and implementation.
• Eliminate policies that disproportionately harm communities of color and immigrant communities and

actively strengthen programs that equitably support groups at the highest risk of food insecurity in
Connecticut.

DATA LIMITATIONS
• Applications for public assistance were not available disaggregated by gender or race and ethnicity.
• This report did not analyze food insecurity by age, but national trends suggest that families with young

children and seniors are more likely to experience food insecurity. This is especially concerning for
seniors living on a fixed income given that the cost of groceries has risen during the Covid-19 pandemic.
This is an area for further exploration.

33



25

OPPORTUNITIES FOR MEASURING IMPACT
Data included in this report comes from secondary sources such as administrative and survey data, which 
had pre-determined questions and response options. For example, not all data sources were available at a 
disaggregated level and many conflated constructs such as sex and gender. Additionally, not all desired data 
sources were available to the public or available during the specified time frame, given lags in data collection 
and reporting. Finally, some data were not available due to suppression rules and the need to protect 
individual privacy.

Creating equitable programs and policies requires that equity be centered in every step of the planning and 
data processes. This includes making biases explicit (i.e., from funders, researchers, analysts), understanding 
power dynamics, and purposefully incorporating community and stakeholder input. Clearly articulating and 
addressing these biases, dynamics, and challenges can help to develop a culture and system of data equity, 
even when constrained by the data quality of secondary sources. However, data that has been collected in a 
biased, flawed, and racist way will still be such when analyzed regardless of the best intentions of the analysts. 
This is why embedding equity at each touchpoint is critical to collecting, analyzing, and using data in service of 
communities.

USING DATA IN A MORE EQUITABLE WAY
Too often disaggregating data is viewed as equitable use of data. While disaggregating data is a start to 
understanding racial and gender disparities, when done in isolation, disaggregation does not result in 
equitable analyses and solutions. Simply put, disaggregating data is not enough. The sections below describe 
recommendations across the data life cycle as well as for future research and analysis to equitably measure the 
impact of Covid-19 on Connecticut residents and communities.

DATA COLLECTION
•	 Identify the questions of interest and consult with community members to understand what information 

should be collected, what language and response options should be used, and what information 
already exists. This is particularly important for demographic categories such as race, ethnicity, and 
gender which typically require respondents to select one option, thereby reducing someone’s identity 
to artificial categories and/or literally othering someone by having them choose “Other.”

•	 Standardize response options, to the extent possible, across data collection materials.
•	 Align question language, when possible, with established surveys and tools to allow for comparison 

over time. This should not override community-level input on what responses resonate with them.
•	 Understand what claims can be made from the questions and response options. For example, avoid 

asking a question with the language of sex and interpreting it with the language of gender.
•	 Expand response options for gender and other identities to be reflective of the continuum rather than 

prioritizing the more limited binary view. 

DATA ANALYSIS
•	 Establish quality control checks within administrative databases to ensure data completeness. 
•	 Explore qualitative or mixed-methods approaches that can provide more context to qualitative analyses. 

Consider alternative methods and analyses that can provide greater voice to the community.

DATA REPORTING
•	 Publicly provide disaggregated data in as many ways as possible, while maintaining confidentiality, to 

allow for comparisons and to identify areas of need. For example, race by gender by age.
•	 Recognize and make explicit the limitations of each disaggregation. For example, disaggregating 

by commonly used race and ethnicity categories make explicit the bias that each group is uniform. 

34



26

The disaggregation communicates that, for example, the Hispanic/Latino population has a shared 
experience when in fact, the experiences of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, Columbian, and Salvadoran 
respondents may be quite different. Make data publicly available in accessible formats for the public to 
understand and use for their decision making.

•	 Incorporate historical context to situate each issue in the broader societal and policy framework.

FUTURE RESEARCH
With the Covid-19 pandemic being an evolving crisis, this report could not explore every research question of 
interest. With additional time, resources, and new data sources, future research would benefit from exploring:

•	 How Covid-19 impacts different regions of the state (i.e., towns, counties, urban vs. rural, Five 
Connecticuts).

•	 How Covid-19 impacts Connecticut residents across the lifespan, including children and older adults.
•	 Whether the child care centers that have closed are located in child care deserts and /or in geographies 

with higher percentages of families of color. 
•	 Reasons why families are keeping their children at home (ex., due to pre-existing health conditions or 

lack of child care).
•	 The number of families eligible for the Families First Coronavirus Response Act.
•	 Eviction data disaggregated by sex (forthcoming from another Connecticut Data Collaborative analysis 

in partnership with CT Fair Housing Center).
•	 Disaggregated data about suicide rates pre- and post-pandemic.
•	 Disaggregated substance use, specifically opioid, data pre- and post-pandemic.
•	 How Covid-19 impacts human trafficking.

35



27

REFERENCES
1 Connecticut Department of Social Services. (2020). Daily DSS application activity before and during COVID-19 
emergency. Connecticut Open Data. https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/Daily-DSS-Application-
Activity-Before-and-During-C/pmna-639e
2 Gupta, A. H. (2020, May 13). Why some women call this recession a ‘shecession.’  
https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/09/us/unemployment-coronavirus-women.html
3 Connecticut Department of Public Health. (2020). COVID-19 tests, cases, hospitalizations, and deaths. 
Connecticut Open Data. https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/COVID-19-confirmed-cases-
statewide-/rf3k-f8fg
4 Kashen, J. S. (2020, October 30). How COVID-19 sent women’s workforce progress backward.  
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-
workforce-progress-backward/
5 Connecticut Department of Labor. (2020). Statewide claims profile. Connecticut Department of Labor. 
https://www1.ctdol.state.ct.us/lmi/claimsdata.asp
6 Bye, B. (2020, November 18). Interrupted: Women, work, and COVID-19 [Webinar]. The Community 
Foundation for Greater New Haven. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
7 Threet, D., Aurand, A., Pish, M., Allen, K., Samuel, C. (2020, November 19). Costs of Covid-19 evictions. 
National Low Income Housing Coalition. https://nlihc.org/sites/default/files/costs-of-covid19-evictions.pdf
8 CoreLogic. (2020). Loan performance insights. CoreLogic.  
https://www.corelogic.com/insights-download/loan-performance-insights-report.aspx
9 Feeding America. (2020). The impact of coronavirus on food insecurity. Feeding America.  
https://www.feedingamericaaction.org/the-impact-of-coronavirus-on-food-insecurity/
10 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau. 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
11 Data provided by the Connecticut Coalition Against Domestic Violence, November 2020.
12 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau. 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
13 Methodology based on Landivar, L. C., Ruppanner, L. Scarborough, W. J., and Collins, C. (2020). Early signs 
indicate that COVID-19 is exacerbating gender inequality in the labor force. Socius: Sociological Research for a 
Dynamic World, 6, 1-3. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/2378023120947997
14 Connecticut Department of Public Health. (2020). COVID-19 tests, dases, hospitalizations, and deaths. 
Connecticut Open Data.  
https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/COVID-19-confirmed-cases-statewide-/rf3k-f8fg
15 Connecticut Department of Labor. (2020). Statewide claims profile. Connecticut Department of Labor. 
https://www1.ctdol.state.ct.us/lmi/claimsdata.asp
16 Bye, B. (2020, November 18). Interrupted: Women, work, and COVID-19 [Webinar]. The Community 
Foundation for Greater New Haven. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
17 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau. 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
18 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau. 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html

36

https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/Daily-DSS-Application-Activity-Before-and-During-C/pmna-639e
https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/Daily-DSS-Application-Activity-Before-and-During-C/pmna-639e
https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/09/us/unemployment-coronavirus-women.html
https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/COVID-19-confirmed-cases-statewide-/rf3k-f8fg
https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/COVID-19-confirmed-cases-statewide-/rf3k-f8fg
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/
https://www1.ctdol.state.ct.us/lmi/claimsdata.asp
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
https://nlihc.org/sites/default/files/costs-of-covid19-evictions.pdf
https://www.corelogic.com/insights-download/loan-performance-insights-report.aspx
https://www.feedingamericaaction.org/the-impact-of-coronavirus-on-food-insecurity/
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/2378023120947997
https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/COVID-19-confirmed-cases-statewide-/rf3k-f8fg
https://www1.ctdol.state.ct.us/lmi/claimsdata.asp
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html


28

19 Cohen, P. (2020, November 17). Recession with a difference: Women face special burden. The New York 
Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/11/17/business/economy/women-jobs-economy-recession.html
20 United States Census Bureau. (2019). Table B24030, ACS 2019 1-year estimates. American Community Survey 
Data Releases.  
https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=b24030&g=0400000US09&tid=ACSDT1Y2019.B24030
21 Syed, M. and Willis, D. (2020, July 7). Tracking PPP loans: Search every company approved for federal loans 
over $150K. https://projects.propublica.org/coronavirus/bailouts/
22 Connecticut Secretary of the State. (2020). Connecticut business registration data. Connecticut Secretary of 
the State. https://portal.ct.gov/sots
23 Connecticut Department of Public Health. (2020). COVID-19 Tests, Cases, Hospitalizations, and Deaths. 
Connecticut Open Data.  
https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/COVID-19-confirmed-cases-statewide-/rf3k-f8fg
24 Connecticut Department of Public Health. (2020). COVID-19 cases and deaths by gender. Connecticut Open 
Data. https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/COVID-19-Cases-and-Deaths-by-Gender/qa53-fghg 
25 DataHaven. (2020, September 16). DataHaven 2020 COVID survey. DataHaven.  
https://ctdatahaven.org/sites/ctdatahaven/files/DataHaven_2020_COVID_Survey_Crosstabs_
PressRelease_091620.pdf
26 United States Census Bureau. (2019). 2014-2018 American Community Survey. American Community Survey 
Data Releases. https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/news/data-releases.2018.html
27 United States Census Bureau. (2019). Table B24030, ACS 2019 1-year estimates. American Community Survey 
Data Releases.  
https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=b24030&g=0400000US09&tid=ACSDT1Y2019.B24030
28 Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). Women, caregiving, and COVID-19. Center for Disease 
Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/women/caregivers-covid-19/index.html
29 Institute on Aging. (n.d.). Read how IOA views aging in America. Institute on Aging.  
https://www.ioaging.org/aging-in-america
30 Kashen, J. S. (2020, October 30). How COVID-19 Sent Women’s Workforce Progress Backward.  
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-
workforce-progress-backward/
31 Kashen, J. S. (2020, October 30). How COVID-19 Sent Women’s Workforce Progress Backward. https://
www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-
progress-backward/
32 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau.  
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
33 Methodology based on Kashen, J. S. (2020, October 30). How COVID-19 Sent Women’s Workforce Progress 
Backward. https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-
womens-workforce-progress-backward/
34 Methodology based on Kashen, J. S. (2020, October 30). How COVID-19 Sent Women’s Workforce Progress 
Backward. https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-
womens-workforce-progress-backward/
35 Kashen, J. S. (2020, October 30). How COVID-19 sent women’s workforce progress Backward.  
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-
workforce-progress-backward/

37

https://www.nytimes.com/2020/11/17/business/economy/women-jobs-economy-recession.html

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=b24030&g=0400000US09&tid=ACSDT1Y2019.B24030
https://projects.propublica.org/coronavirus/bailouts/
https://portal.ct.gov/sots
https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/COVID-19-confirmed-cases-statewide-/rf3k-f8fg
https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/COVID-19-Cases-and-Deaths-by-Gender/qa53-fghg
https://ctdatahaven.org/sites/ctdatahaven/files/DataHaven_2020_COVID_Survey_Crosstabs_PressRelease_091620.pdf
https://ctdatahaven.org/sites/ctdatahaven/files/DataHaven_2020_COVID_Survey_Crosstabs_PressRelease_091620.pdf
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/news/data-releases.2018.html
https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=b24030&g=0400000US09&tid=ACSDT1Y2019.B24030
https://www.cdc.gov/women/caregivers-covid-19/index.html
https://www.ioaging.org/aging-in-america
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/

https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/

https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2020/10/30/492582/covid-19-sent-womens-workforce-progress-backward/


29

36 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau. 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
37 Connecticut Department of Labor. (2020). Statewide claims profile. Connecticut Department of Labor. 
https://www1.ctdol.state.ct.us/lmi/claimsdata.asp
38 Connecticut Department of Labor. (2020). Statewide claims profile. Connecticut Department of Labor. 
https://www1.ctdol.state.ct.us/lmi/claimsdata.asp
39 Steven Ruggles, Sarah Flood, Ronald Goeken, Josiah Grover, Erin Meyer, Jose Pacas and Matthew Sobek. 
IPUMS USA: Version 10.0 [dataset]. Minneapolis, MN: IPUMS, 2020. https://doi.org/10.18128/D010.V10.0
40 2-1-1 Counts Connecticut. (2020). Top 2-1-1 service requests. 2-1-1 Counts Connecticut.  
https://ct.211counts.org/
41 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau. 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
42 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau. 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
43 Connecticut Secretary of the State. (2020). Connecticut business registration data. Connecticut Secretary of 
the State. https://portal.ct.gov/sots
44 Syed, M. and Willis, D. (2020, July 7). Tracking PPP loans: Search every company approved for federal loans 
over $150K. https://projects.propublica.org/coronavirus/bailouts/
45 United States Census Bureau. (2019). 2014-2018 American Community Survey. American Community Survey 
Data Releases. https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/news/data-releases.2018.html
46 Jessen-Howard, S., Workman, S. (2020, April 24). Coronavirus pandemic could lead to permanent loss of 
nearly 4.5 million child care slots. Center for American Progress.  
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/early-childhood/news/2020/04/24/483817/coronavirus-pandemic-
lead-permanent-loss-nearly-4-5-million-child-care-slots/
47 Bye, B. (2020, November 18). Interrupted: Women, sork, and COVID-19 [Webinar]. The Community 
Foundation for Greater New Haven. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be 
48 Center for American Progress (2019). Early learning fact sheet 2019: Connecticut. Center for American 
Progress. https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/uploads/2019/09/12064838/Connecticut.pdf?_
ga=2.210459925.1414952107.1605800706-245466949.1604509293
49 Bye, B. (2020, November 18). Interrupted: Women, sork, and COVID-19 [Webinar]. The Community 
Foundation for Greater New Haven. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
50 Jessen-Howard, S., Workman, S. (2020, April 24). Coronavirus pandemic could lead to permanent loss of 
nearly 4.5 million child care slots. Center for American Progress.  
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/early-childhood/news/2020/04/24/483817/coronavirus-pandemic-
lead-permanent-loss-nearly-4-5-million-child-care-slots/
51 Bye, B. (2020, November 18). Interrupted: Women, work, and COVID-19 [Webinar]. The Community 
Foundation for Greater New Haven. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
52 DataHaven. (2020, September 16). DataHaven 2020 COVID survey. DataHaven.  
https://ctdatahaven.org/sites/ctdatahaven/files/DataHaven_2020_COVID_Survey_Crosstabs_
PressRelease_091620.pdf
53 Bye, B. (2020, November 18). Interrupted: Women, work, and COVID-19 [Webinar]. The Community 
Foundation for Greater New Haven. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be

38

https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
https://www1.ctdol.state.ct.us/lmi/claimsdata.asp
https://www1.ctdol.state.ct.us/lmi/claimsdata.asp
https://doi.org/10.18128/D010.V10.0
https://ct.211counts.org/

https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
https://portal.ct.gov/sots
https://projects.propublica.org/coronavirus/bailouts/
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/news/data-releases.2018.html

https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/early-childhood/news/2020/04/24/483817/coronavirus-pandemic-lead-permanent-loss-nearly-4-5-million-child-care-slots/

https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/early-childhood/news/2020/04/24/483817/coronavirus-pandemic-lead-permanent-loss-nearly-4-5-million-child-care-slots/

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/uploads/2019/09/12064838/Connecticut.pdf?_ga=2.210459925.1414952107.1605800706-245466949.1604509293
https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/uploads/2019/09/12064838/Connecticut.pdf?_ga=2.210459925.1414952107.1605800706-245466949.1604509293
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/early-childhood/news/2020/04/24/483817/coronavirus-pandemic-lead-permanent-loss-nearly-4-5-million-child-care-slots/

https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/early-childhood/news/2020/04/24/483817/coronavirus-pandemic-lead-permanent-loss-nearly-4-5-million-child-care-slots/

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
https://ctdatahaven.org/sites/ctdatahaven/files/DataHaven_2020_COVID_Survey_Crosstabs_PressRelease_091620.pdf
https://ctdatahaven.org/sites/ctdatahaven/files/DataHaven_2020_COVID_Survey_Crosstabs_PressRelease_091620.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be


30

54 Center for American Progress (2019). Early learning fact sheet 2019: Connecticut. Center for American 
Progress. https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/uploads/2019/09/12064838/Connecticut.pdf?_
ga=2.210459925.1414952107.1605800706-245466949.1604509293
55 Connecticut Secretary of the State. (2020). Connecticut business registration data. Connecticut Secretary of 
the State. https://portal.ct.gov/sots
56 Bye, B. (2020, November 18). Interrupted: Women, work, and COVID-19 [Webinar]. The Community 
Foundation for Greater New Haven. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
57 Bye, B. (2020, November 18). Interrupted: Women, work, and COVID-19 [Webinar]. The Community 
Foundation for Greater New Haven. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
58 Data provided by the Connecticut Department of Housing, October 2020.
59 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau. 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
60 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau. 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
61 Connecticut Fair Housing Center. (2020, December 20. Covid-19 update.
62 National Low Income Housing Coalition. (2020, December 11). Eviction update.  
https://nlihc.org/coronavirus-and-housing-homelessness/eviction-update
63 National Low Income Housing Coalition. (2020, December 11). Eviction update.  
https://nlihc.org/coronavirus-and-housing-homelessness/eviction-update
64 CoreLogic. (2020). Loan performance insights. CoreLogic.  
https://www.corelogic.com/insights-download/loan-performance-insights-report.aspx
65 Community Solutions. (2020, May 11). Analysis on unemployment projects 40-45% increase in homelessness 
this year. Community Solutions.  
https://community.solutions/analysis-on-unemployment-projects-40-45-increase-in-homelessness-this-year/ 
66 Corinth, K. (2017). The impact of permanent supportive housing on homeless populations. Journal of 
Housing Economics, 35, 69-84. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1051137715300474
67 2-1-1 Counts Connecticut. (2020). Top 2-1-1 service requests. 2-1-1 Counts Connecticut.  
https://ct.211counts.org/
68 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention.  
https://chronicdata.cdc.gov/Behavioral-Risk-Factors/Behavioral-Risk-Factor-Surveillance-System-BRFSS-P/dttw-
5yxu/data
69 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau. 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
70 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau. 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
71 Data provided by the Connecticut Department of Children and Families, December 2020.
72 Connecticut Coalition Against Domestic Violence. (2020, October). COVID-19 lessons learned: Responding 
to the pandemic and preparing for future pandemics.
73 Data provided by the Connecticut Coalition Against Domestic Violence, November 2020.
74 Data provided by the Connecticut Coalition Against Domestic Violence, December 2020.

39

https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/uploads/2019/09/12064838/Connecticut.pdf?_ga=2.210459925.1414952107.1605800706-245466949.1604509293
https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/uploads/2019/09/12064838/Connecticut.pdf?_ga=2.210459925.1414952107.1605800706-245466949.1604509293
https://portal.ct.gov/sots
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vvJDV7TEFP8&feature=youtu.be
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html

https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html

https://nlihc.org/coronavirus-and-housing-homelessness/eviction-update
https://nlihc.org/coronavirus-and-housing-homelessness/eviction-update 

https://www.corelogic.com/insights-download/loan-performance-insights-report.aspx
https://community.solutions/analysis-on-unemployment-projects-40-45-increase-in-homelessness-this-year/
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1051137715300474
https://ct.211counts.org/

https://chronicdata.cdc.gov/Behavioral-Risk-Factors/Behavioral-Risk-Factor-Surveillance-System-BRFSS-P/dttw-5yxu/data
https://chronicdata.cdc.gov/Behavioral-Risk-Factors/Behavioral-Risk-Factor-Surveillance-System-BRFSS-P/dttw-5yxu/data
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html

https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html



31

75 Data provided by the Connecticut Coalition Against Domestic Violence, December 2020.
76 Feeding America. (2020). The impact of coronavirus on food insecurity. Feeding America.  
https://www.feedingamericaaction.org/the-impact-of-coronavirus-on-food-insecurity/
77 United States Census Bureau. (2020). Household Pulse Survey. United States Census Bureau. 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html
78 2-1-1 Counts Connecticut. (2020). Top 2-1-1 service requests. 2-1-1 Counts Connecticut.  
https://ct.211counts.org/
79 Connecticut Department of Social Services. (2020). Daily DSS application activity before and during 
COVID-19 emergency. Connecticut Open Data.  
https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/Daily-DSS-Application-Activity-Before-and-During-C/pmna-
639e
80 Landivar, L. C., Ruppanner, L. Scarborough, W. J., and Collins, C. (2020). Early signs indicate that COVID-19 is 
exacerbating gender inequality in the labor force. Socius: Sociological Research for a Dynamic World, 6, 1-3. 
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/2378023120947997
81 Community Solutions. (2020, May 11). Analysis on unemployment Projects 40-45% Increase in Homelessness 
This Year. Community Solutions.  
https://community.solutions/analysis-on-unemployment-projects-40-45-increase-in-homelessness-this-year/
82 Corinth, K. (2017). The impact of permanent supportive housing on homeless populations. Journal of 
Housing Economics, 35, 69-84. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1051137715300474
83 Connecticut Department of Labor. (2020). Unemployment rate/residents unemployed – State of Connecticut. 
https://www1.ctdol.state.ct.us/lmi/unemploymentrate.asp#:~:text=The%20October%202020%20official%20
unemployment%20rate%20for%20Connecticut,Connecticut%20unemployment%20rate%20was%20
3.8%25%20for%20October%202019
84 Phneuf, K. M. (2020, November 13). CT loses eligibility for high extended federal unemployment benefits. 
https://ctmirror.org/2020/11/19/ct-loses-eligibility-for-high-extended-federal-unemployment-benefits/ 
85 United States Census Bureau. (2019). Table BP05, ACS 2019 1-year estimates. American Community Survey 
Data Releases.  
https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=connecticut%20population&tid=ACSDP1Y2019.
DP05&hidePreview=false

40

https://www.feedingamericaaction.org/the-impact-of-coronavirus-on-food-insecurity/

https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html

https://ct.211counts.org/

https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/Daily-DSS-Application-Activity-Before-and-During-C/pmna-639e
https://data.ct.gov/Health-and-Human-Services/Daily-DSS-Application-Activity-Before-and-During-C/pmna-639e
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/2378023120947997
https://community.solutions/analysis-on-unemployment-projects-40-45-increase-in-homelessness-this-year/
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1051137715300474
https://www1.ctdol.state.ct.us/lmi/unemploymentrate.asp#:~:text=The%20October%202020%20official%20unemployment%20rate%20for%20Connecticut,Connecticut%20unemployment%20rate%20was%203.8%25%20for%20October%202019
https://www1.ctdol.state.ct.us/lmi/unemploymentrate.asp#:~:text=The%20October%202020%20official%20unemployment%20rate%20for%20Connecticut,Connecticut%20unemployment%20rate%20was%203.8%25%20for%20October%202019
https://www1.ctdol.state.ct.us/lmi/unemploymentrate.asp#:~:text=The%20October%202020%20official%20unemployment%20rate%20for%20Connecticut,Connecticut%20unemployment%20rate%20was%203.8%25%20for%20October%202019
https://ctmirror.org/2020/11/19/ct-loses-eligibility-for-high-extended-federal-unemployment-benefits/
https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=connecticut%20population&tid=ACSDP1Y2019.DP05&hidePreview=false 

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=connecticut%20population&tid=ACSDP1Y2019.DP05&hidePreview=false 



32

APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHICS
Using the American Community Survey 5-year estimates, 2014-2018, demographics for females and males 
appear similar across age, race and ethnicity, marital status, and education level. For example, 23% of females 
in Connecticut are between 0-19 years of age compared to 25% of males and 24% of the overall population in 
the state. The areas of difference are for falling below the poverty level and reliance on public assistance.

AGE FEMALE MALE OVERALL
0-19 Years 23% 25% 24%
20-39 Years 24% 26% 25%
40-59 Years 28% 28% 28%
60-79 Years 19% 18% 19%
80+ Years 6% 3% 5%
RACE AND ETHNICITY
American Indian or Alaska Native 0.2% 0.2% 0.2%
Asian 4% 4% 4%
Black or African American 10% 9% 10%
Hispanic or Latino 14% 15% 14%
White 64% 64% 64%
Some other race 5% 5% 5%
Two or more races 3% 3% 3%
MARITAL STATUS
Married 45% 48% 47%
Never married 33% 39% 36%
Divorced 13% 9% 11%
Widowed 8% 2% 6%
Separated 1% 1% 1%
EDUCATION (25+)
Less than high school 9% 10% 9%
High school or GED 26% 28% 27%
Some college 16% 17% 16%
Associates degree 8% 7% 8%
Bachelor’s degree 22% 22% 22%
Graduate or professional degree 18% 17% 18%
PUBLIC BENEFITS
Cash public assistance income or SNAP benefits 48% 24% 43%
Below poverty level 11% 9% 10%
Below ALICE threshold 24% 8% 27%
EMPLOYMENT
In labor force 78% 85% 81%
In labor force with children under 6 years 7%
In labor force with children under 18 years 34%
INCOME
<$15,000 3% 2% 3%
$15,000 – $24,999 8% 6% 7%
$25,000 – $34,999 13% 10% 11%
$35,000 – $49,999 20% 16% 18%
$50,000 – $64,999 15% 16% 16%
$65,000 – $74,999 9% 8% 8%
$75,000 OR MORE 30% 43% 37%

41



33

APPENDIX B: CHILD CARE
The U.S. Census Bureau, in collaboration with five federal agencies, launched the Household Pulse Survey 
to collect data about social and economic impact of Covid-19 on households throughout the United States. 
Survey questions include topics such as employment status, food security, housing, physical and mental health, 
healthcare, and education. The survey was designed to provide timely weekly estimates. It was conducted by 
an internet questionnaire, with invitations sent by email and text message.

This report classified Household Pulse Survey data as three time periods:

• Spring: April 23, 2020 to May 26, 2020 (5,848 responses)
• Summer: June 25, 2020 to July 21, 2020 (5,988 responses)
• Fall: August 19, 2020 to September 28, 2020 (5,767 responses)

The analysis aggregated responses across all surveys released within each time period (spring, summer, fall) to 
ensure an adequate sample size for analysis. For example, analysis for spring 2020 included aggregated survey 
responses from all four surveys released between April 23, 2020 and May 26, 2020.

For additional details regarding the Household Pulse Survey, visit the U.S. Census Bureau’s website at 
https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html

The table below shows the percentage of Connecticut residents who reported that the primary reason for not 
working was to care for child(ren) not in school or daycare, according to the Census Bureau’s Household Pulse 
Survey. Light blue represents lower rates of not working due to child care and dark blue represents higher 
rates of not working due to child care, compared to other demographics. The trend line shows change over 
time.

Main reason for not working was caring for child not in school or daycare.

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 1% 2% 3%
Female 8% 8% 8%
Female – Asian 9% 38% 11%
Female – Black 3% 6% 9%
Female – Hispanic 22% 12% 11%
Female – Other 18% 1% 9%
Female – White 5% 3% 2%

As of fall 2020, more Asian and Hispanic females report that their main 
reason for not working during the pandemic was to care for a child or 
children who are not in school or daycare.

42

https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html


34

Of the parents who have children and had to stay home (and not work) due to child care, how 
many were female versus male?

Of the parents who have children and had to stay home (and not work), how many of them 
stayed home for child care?

21% of females who have children and had to stay home in fall 2020 did  
so because of child care, compared to only 12% of males.

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 5% 5% 12%
Female 9% 22% 21%

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 13% 14% 24%
Female 87% 86% 76%

76% of those who have children and had to stay home from work due to 
child care in fall 2020 were female.

43



35

APPENDIX C: LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION
The estimates below are based on a methodology developed by Landivar, which assumes that approximately 
3% of working mothers with children under the age of 6 and 4% of working mothers with children between 
ages 6 to 17 will leave the workforce due to Covid-19.80

Estimates were derived from Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics (LEHD) and American Community 
Survey (ACS) data.

VALUE NOTES

Average wages for females $53,822 From LEHD

Employed females 271,169 From ACS

Total wages for females $14,594,857,918 Avg. wage x employed females

IF 1% OF FEMALES LEFT THE WORKPLACE

Females lost from workforce 2,712 Employed x 1%

Females remaining in workforce 268,457 Employed – lost

Lost female wages $145,948,579 Females lost x average wage

IF 3% OF FEMALES LEFT THE WORKPLACE

Females lost from workforce 9,240 Employed x 3%

Females remaining in workforce 261,929 Employed x Landivar %

Lost female wages $497,317,271 Females lost x average wage

44



36

APPENDIX D: INCOME AND EMPLOYMENT
The tables below show the percentage of Connecticut residents who reported experiencing Covid-related 
loss of income or employment, according to the Census Bureau’s Household Pulse Survey. Light blue 
represents lower rates of income loss and dark blue represents higher rates of income loss, compared to other 
demographics. The trend line shows change over time.

Experienced a loss of income since March 13, 2020.

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 48% 52% 47%
Female 46% 49% 44%
Female – Asian 49% 42% 35%
Female – Black 55% 49% 46%
Female – Hispanic 62% 67% 53%
Female – Other 70% 55% 53%
Female – White 40% 44% 42%

Expecting a loss of income in the next 4 weeks.

At the beginning of the pandemic, 7 in 10 females who identify their race 
or ethnicity as Other had experienced a loss of income since March 13, 
2020. As of fall 2020, a little over half report having experienced a loss  
of income.

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 35% 31% 25%
Female 36% 31% 25%
Female – Asian 50% 21% 24%
Female – Black 43% 36% 26%
Female – Hispanic 52% 51% 36%
Female – Other 47% 29% 27%
Female – White 30% 26% 22%

At the beginning of the pandemic, at least half of Asian and Hispanic 
females expected a loss of income in the next 4 weeks. Across all 
demographics, expected loss of income has decreased over time.

45



37

APPENDIX E: INITIAL UNEMPLOYMENT CLAIMS
595,222 initial unemployment claims have been filed with CT DOL between March and September 2020. 
Of these, 274 reported their sex as either unknown or non-binary. These applicants were removed from this 
analysis given that missing data was grouped into this category. Percentages in the tables below are calculated 
after excluding missing/unknown values.

AGE
Applicants between the ages of 20-29 made up the largest share of claims. Age data was missing for 1% of 
females and 1% of males.

FEMALE MALE
Under 20 14,442 5% 10,438 4%

20 to 29 72,456 23% 62,477 23% 

30 to 39 61,813 20% 53,795 20%

40 to 49 53,419 17% 45,726 17% 

50 to 59 61,054 19% 52,286 19%

60 to 69 38,793 12% 37,672 14%

70 to 79 9,774 3% 10,376 4% 

80 to 89 1,379 0.4% 1,394 0.5% 

90 + 193 0.1% 138 0.1%

Missing/Unknown 3,507 3,816

TOTAL 316,830 278,118

FEMALE MALE
Less than High School 16,135 9% 16,450 11%

High School 371,164 41% 67,404 46%

Some College 39,901 23% 28,817 20% 

Bachelor’s 29,826 17% 22,140 15% 

More than Bachelor’s 18,074 10% 112,947 9%

Missing/Unknown 141,730 12% 130,360

TOTAL 316,830 278,118

EDUCATION
For both females and males, applicants with a high school education made up the largest share of claims. 
Applicants with a high school education made up 41% of female claims. Education level data was missing for 
45% females and 47% males.

46



38

FEMALE MALE
Less than $20,000 113,898 47% 72,748 38%

$20,000 to $34,999 56,815 23% 36,022 19%

$35,000 to $49,999 33,756 14% 27,012 14% 

$50,000 to $74,999 23,848 10% 28,289 15% 

$75,000 to $149,999 12,232 5% 20,915 11%

$150,000 or more 1,871 0.8% 4,865 3%

Missing/Unknown 49,669 62,202

TOTAL 292,089  252,053

RACE AND ETHNICITY
For both females and males, applicants of color made up over one-third of claims. Applicants of color made up 
36% of female claims. Race and ethnicity data was missing for 7% females and 8% males.

FEMALE MALE
Asian or Other Pacific Islander 15,071 5% 12,707 5%

Black or African American 38,798 13% 37,363 15%

Hispanic or Latino 52,417 18% 41,350 17% 

Native American 1,030 0.3% 1,098 0.4% 

White 188,235 64% 162,422 63%

Missing/Unknown 21,279 21,378

TOTAL 316,830  278,118

WAGES IN PREVIOUS YEAR
For both females and males, applicants who worked and earned less than $20,000 in the previous year made 
up the largest share of claims. Applicants who earned less than $20,000 in the previous year made up 47% of 
female claims. Wage data was missing for 17% of females and 25% of males.

47



39

FEMALE MALE
Less than High School 7,362 10% 7,248 11%

High School 33,032 44% 29,196 46%

Some College 16,110 22% 11,419 20% 

Bachelor’s 11,575 16% 9,247 15% 

More than Bachelor’s 6,476 9% 4,591 9%

Missing/Unknown 24,391 20,024

TOTAL 98,946 81,725  

FEMALE MALE
Under 20 1,815 2% 1,474 2%

20 to 29 21,125 21% 18,418 23% 

30 to 39 21,911 22% 17,406 21%

40 to 49 17,048 17% 13,442 16% 

50 to 59 18,947 19% 15,159 19%

60 to 69 13,694 14% 11,843 15%

70 to 79 3,731 4% 3,398 4% 

80 to 89 531 0.5% 478 0.6% 

90 + 70 0.1% 135 0.2%

Missing/Unknown 94  72

TOTAL 98,946  81,725  

APPENDIX F: CONTINUED UNEMPLOYMENT CLAIMS
180,685 continued unemployment claims were filed with CT DOL in the last week of September 2020. Of 
these, 14 reported their sex as either unknown or non-binary. These applicants were removed from this analysis 
given that missing data was grouped into this category. Percentages in the tables below are calculated after 
excluding missing/unknown values.

AGE
Applicants between the ages of 30-39 made up the largest share of female claims. Age was missing for <1% of 
females and <1% of males.

EDUCATION
For both females and males, applicants with a high school education made up the largest share of claims. 
Applicants with a high school education made up 44% of female claims. Education level data was missing for 
25% females and 25% males.

48



40

FEMALE MALE
Less than $20,000 46,565 48% 30,570 38%

$20,000 to $34,999 24,551 25% 17,515 19%

$35,000 to $49,999 12,914 13% 11,901 14% 

$50,000 to $74,999 8,979 9% 10,870 15% 

$75,000 to $149,999 4,389 4% 7,499 11%

$150,000 or more 820 0.8% 1,982 3%

Missing/Unknown 726 1,113

TOTAL 98,754 81,450

FEMALE MALE
Asian or Other Pacific Islander 3,990 4% 3,234 4%

Black or African American 15,696 17% 13,865 18%

Hispanic or Latino 18,945 21% 14,507 19% 

Native American 357 0.4% 332 .04% 

White 53,231 58% 43,250 58%

Missing/Unknown 6,727 6,537

TOTAL 98,946 81,725

RACE AND ETHNICITY
For both females and males, applicants of color made up over one-third of claims. Applicants of color made up 
42% of female claims. Race and ethnicity data was missing for 7% females and 8% males.

WAGES IN PREVIOUS YEAR
For both females and males, applicants who worked and earned less than $20,000 in the previous year made 
up the largest share of claims. Applicants who earned less than $20,000 in the previous year made up 48% of 
female claims. Wage data was missing for <1% of females and 1% of males.

49



41

APPENDIX G: 211 CALLS FOR SERVICES
The tables below represent the number of calls to Connecticut 211 for services for January 1 to September 30 
in 2019 and 2020. Up arrows identify increased calls between 2019 and 2020.

INCOME & EMPLOYMENT
Between 2019 and 2020, income and employment related calls to 211 increased in four areas: tax preparation, 
job search, unemployment benefits, and money management.

2019 2020
COUNT PERCENT COUNT PERCENT INCREASE

Financial assistance 13,541 50% 11,934 35%

Tax preparation 8,813 33% 10,585 31% ▲

Job search 2,012 7% 8,150 24% ▲

Contacts 1,832 7% 1,632 5%

Unemployment benefits 355 1% 1,451 4% ▲

Money management 334 1% 347 1% ▲

Job development 32 0.1% 13 0.4%

26,919 34,112

HOUSING & SHELTER
Between 2019 and 2020, housing related calls to 211 increased in four areas: housing contacts, rental 
assistance, landlord/tenant issues, and mortgage assistance.

2019 2020
COUNT PERCENT COUNT PERCENT INCREASE

Shelter 38,399 54% 34,736 49%

Contacts 10,737 15% 13,282 19% ▲

Rent assistance 9,122 13% 10,175 14% ▲

Low-cost housing 7,942 11% 6,895 10%

Landlord/tenant issues 3,174 4% 4,528 6% ▲

Mortgage assistance 842 1% 1,297 2% ▲

Home repair/maintenance 732 1% 636 .9%

Other housing and shelter 27 .04% 15 .02%

70,975 71,564

50



42

MENTAL HEALTH & ADDICTIONS
Between 2019 and 2020, mental health related calls to 211 increased in three areas: mental health service, 
substance abuse and addictions and mental health facilities.

2019 2020
COUNT PERCENT COUNT PERCENT INCREASE

Mental health service 30,792 54% 31,200 59% ▲

Crisis intervention and suicide 21,838 38% 16,618 32%

Substance abuse and addictions 4,484 8% 4,500 9% ▲

Mental health facilities 391 0.7% 425 0.8% ▲

57,505 52,743

FOOD ASSISTANCE
Between 2019 and 2020, food assistance related calls to 211 increased in four areas: help buying food, food 
pantries, home delivered meals, and other food-related requests.

2019 2020
COUNT PERCENT COUNT PERCENT INCREASE

Help buying food 3,543 45% 14,331 66% ▲

Food pantries 2,838 36% 5,154 24% ▲

Soup kitchens 1,027 13% 950 4%

Home delivered meals 296 4% 1,227 6% ▲

Feeding children 142 2% 86 0.4%

Other food 19 0.2% 29 0.1% ▲

Holiday meals 15 0.2% 10 .05%

7,880 21,787

51



43

APPENDIX H: HOUSING
The tables below show the percentage of Connecticut residents who reported experiencing Covid-related 
housing insecurity, according to the Census Bureau’s Household Pulse Survey. Light blue represents lower 
rates of housing concerns and dark blue represents higher rates of housing concerns, compared to other 
demographics. The trend line shows change over time.

No or slight confidence in paying rent/mortgage next month.

Behind on rent or mortgage payments.

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 13% 22% 16%
Female 25% 23% 19%
Female – Asian 14% 9% 22%
Female – Black 34% 36% 32%
Female – Hispanic 44% 42% 25%
Female – Other 70% 33% 33%
Female – White 16% 15% 15%

In spring, 70% of females who identified their race or ethnicity as Other 
had little confidence that they could pay their rent or mortgage the 
following month. In fall 2020, 1 in 3 Black and Other females expressed 
this concern.

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 9% 12% 11%
Female 14% 11% 13%
Female – Asian 12% 4% 9%
Female – Black 22% 22% 20%
Female – Hispanic 18% 13% 18%
Female – Other 60% 32% 17%
Female – White 9% 8% 10%

At the beginning of the pandemic, 6 in 10 females who identify their race 
or ethnicity as Other were behind on their rent or mortgage. In fall 2020,  
2 in 10 Black females are behind their rent or mortgage payments.

52



44

APPENDIX I: PROJECTED INCREASE IN HOMELESSNESS
The calculations used to estimate the projected increase in homelessness in Connecticut was based off 
a methodology developed by Columbia University and described by Community Solutions. This model 
estimates that for every 1% increase in unemployment rate, the rate of homelessness per 10,000 people 
increases by 0.65. Calculations and assumptions are outlined below.81, 82

The unemployment rates for 2019 and September 2020 are actual unemployment rates, as reported by CT 
DOL and calculated from the Current Population Survey (CPS).83 The December 2020 rate is an estimate of what 
CT DOL believes to be closer to the reality based on unemployment claims data. Because the unemployment 
rate is calculated using the CPS, which only includes approximately 660 Connecticut households each month, 
the unemployment data is likely a more accurate representation of reality.84

MONTH
2019 

UNEMPLOYMENT 
RATE

2020 
UNEMPLOYMENT 

RATE

CHANGE IN 
UNEMPLOYMENT 

RATE

September 3.7% 7.7% 4.0%

December 3.7% 11.0% 7.3%

MONTH 2019 POINT IN TIME 
COUNT

CONNECTICUT 
POPULATION

RATE OF 
HOMELESSNESS  

PER 10,000 PEOPLE

September 3,033 people 3,565,287 people 8.5

December 3,033 people 3,565,287 people 8.5

Projected rate of homelessness per 10,000 people = 
Actual 2019 rate of homelessness + (change in unemployment rate * 0.65)

MONTH CALCULATION
PROJECTED RATE  

OF HOMELESSNESS 
PER 10,000 PEOPLE

September 8.5 + (4.0% * 0.65) 11.1

December 8.5 + (7.3% * 0.65) 13.3

To calculate the actual number of people predicted to experience homelessness, we used the 2019  
1-year American Community Survey population estimates for Connecticut.85 New homelessness was  

calculated by subtracting the 2019 PIT count from the total homelessness.

MONTH CALCULATION 2020 PREDICTED 
HOMELESSNESS

2020 NEW 
HOMELESSNESS

September (3,565,287*11.1)/10,000 3,960 people 927 people

December (3,565,287*13.3)/10,000 4,725 people 1,692 people

53



APPENDIX J: MENTAL HEALTH
The tables below show the percentage of Connecticut residents who reported experiencing each mental 
health challenge for at least several days during the past week, according to the Census Bureau’s Household 
Pulse Survey. Light blue represents lower rates of mental health challenges and dark blue represents higher 
rates of mental health challenges, compared to other demographics. The trend line shows change over time.

Feeling nervous anxious, or on edge.

Unable to stop or control worrying.

45

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 61% 60% 57%
Female 69% 70% 70%
Female – Asian 67% 76% 69%
Female – Black 61% 61% 63%
Female – Hispanic 76% 73% 71%
Female – Other 57% 77% 77%
Female – White 69% 71% 70%

Females who identified their race or ethnicity as Hispanic were more likely 
to report feeling nervous or anxious at the start of the pandemic with those 
identifying as Other reporting the highest rates in summer and fall 2020.

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 52% 54% 48%
Female 59% 59% 60%
Female – Asian 71% 68% 58%
Female – Black 57% 53% 61%
Female – Hispanic 73% 67% 60%
Female – Other 71% 51% 58%
Female – White 56% 58% 60%

Females who identified their race/ethnicity as Hispanic, Asian, and  
Other were more likely to experience uncontrolled worrying at the start  
of the pandemic. White and Black females reported increases in worrying 
over time.

54



46

Felt down, depressed, or hopeless.

Little interest or pleasure in doing things.

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 53% 49% 48%
Female 50% 54% 51%
Female – Asian 42% 72% 51%
Female – Black 51% 54% 59%
Female – Hispanic 58% 59% 57%
Female – Other 41% 51% 49%
Female – White 49% 52% 49%

Hispanic females were more likely to experience little interest in pleasure  
in doing things at start of the pandemic whereas Asian females were the 
most likely to feel this way in summer and Black females in fall 2020.

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 44% 53% 48%
Female 50% 54% 51%
Female – Asian 55% 64% 45%
Female – Black 46% 52% 55%
Female – Hispanic 60% 61% 56%
Female – Other 45% 47% 56%
Female – White 49% 53% 50%

Hispanic females were more likely to have felt down, depressed, or 
hopeless at the start of the pandemic whereas Asian females were the  
most likely to feel this way in summer and Hispanic, Black, and Other 
females in fall.

55



47

APPENDIX K: HUNGER
The tables below show the percentage of Connecticut residents who reported experiencing hunger in the past 
week or are predicting they will during the next month, according to the Census Bureau’s Household Pulse 
Survey. Light blue represents lower rates of hunger and dark blue represents higher rates of hunger, compared 
to other demographics. The trend line shows change over time.

Sometimes or often did not have enough food in the last 7 days.

Not or only somewhat confident in food security in the next 4 weeks.

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 10% 9% 8%
Female 9% 9% 10%
Female – Asian 5% 3% 5%
Female – Black 13% 15% 14%
Female – Hispanic 15% 17% 18%
Female – Other 30% 16% 13%
Female – White 6% 6% 8%

Other females were more likely to have experienced hunger at the start of 
the pandemic with nearly 1 in 3 having reported that they sometimes or 
often did not have enough food in their household during the last 7 days.

SPRING 2020 SUMMER 2020 FALL 2020 TREND

Male 26% 27% 28%
Female 33% 32% 29%
Female – Asian 26% 26% 19%
Female – Black 45% 48% 53%
Female – Hispanic 47% 52% 45%
Female – Other 66% 46% 33%
Female – White 26% 25% 23%

About 2 in 3 Other females were not or only somewhat confident in their 
ability to have sufficient food for the next four weeks at the start of the 
pandemic with 1 in 2 Black females reporting concerns about hunger 
during fall 2020.

56



FOR MORE INFORMATION  
ON THIS REPORT, PLEASE CONTACT:

Michelle Riordan-Nold 
Connecticut Data Collaborative 

mrn@ctdata.org

Jennifer Steadman 
Aurora Women and Girls Foundation 

jsteadman@aurorafoundation.org

Sharon Cappetta 
Community Fund for Women and Girls of the  

Community Foundation for Greater New Haven 
scappetta@cfgnh.org

Tricia Hyacinth 
Fund for Women and Girls of  

Fairfield County’s Community Foundation 
thyacinth@fccfoundation.org

Julia Scharnberg 
Women and Girls Fund of the  

Northwest Connecticut Community Foundation 
jscharnberg@northwestcf.org

Lauren Parda 
Women and Girls Funds of the  

Community Foundation of Eastern Connecticut 
lauren@cfect.org

57


	Diversity Minutes 11-10-21.pdf
	Diversity Commission Packet12-21-21.pdf
	8A._Resolution_for_Ad_Hoc_Diversity_Commission_v2.pdf
	Bolton 2021 town profile.pdf
	How Diverse is Connecticut.pdf
	Essential Equity Women Covid-19 and Rebuilding CT.pdf




